07

Aberdeen Growth
Opportunities VCT 2 PLC
Annual Report
Year ended 31 December 2007

w

Contents

1

Financial Highlights

Annual Report
3
5
7
11
12
16

Chairman’s Statement
Analysis of Unlisted and AIM Portfolio
Investment Manager’s Review
Summary of Investment Changes
Investment Portfolio Summary
Largest Unlisted and AIM Investments

Directors’ Reports and Financial Statements
18
20
24
26
30
31
32
32
34
35
36

Your Board
Directors’ Report
Directors’ Remuneration Report
Statement of Corporate Governance
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC
Income Statement
Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds
Balance Sheet
Cash Flow Statement
Notes to the Financial Statements

Other Information
46
47
48
50
51

Venture Capital Trusts
Tax Position of Individual Investors
Notice of Meeting
Corporate Summary
Corporate Information

Financial Calendar
15 May 2008

Annual General Meeting

Dividend Schedule
Rate

XD date

Record date

Payment date
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Ordinary Shares Financial Highlights

Financial History
31 December 2007

31 December 2006

31 December 2005
(restated)

£8,221,000
104.9p
112.9p
152.9p
82.0p
(21.8%)
7,835,163

£8,789,000
112.2p
114.2p
154.2p
96.5p
(14.0%)
7,835,163

£7,634,000
97.4p
97.4p
137.4p
100.0p
2.7%
7,835,163

Net asset value
Net asset value per Ordinary share
Total return (without initial tax relief)A
Total return (with initial tax relief)B
Share priceC
(Discount)/premium to net asset value
Ordinary shares in issue
A
B
C

Sum of net asset value per share and dividends paid to date.
Sum of net asset value per share, initial income tax relief at 40% and dividends paid to date.
Source: Bloomberg.

Dividends
Year ended November

2006

2007
Total dividends paid
2007 proposed
Total dividends paid or declared

Payment date

Revenue/capital

Interim/final

Rate (p)

30 October 2006
19 January 2007
18 May 2007
24 October 2007

Capital
Capital
Revenue
Capital

Interim
Interim
Final
Interim

2.0
3.5
0.5
2.0
8.0

20 May 2008

Revenue

Final

1.5
9.5

NAV Performance (p)
120
Dividends paid
NAV

110

100

90

80

70

Launch

2005

2006

2007

The chart shows the net asset value total return (net asset value plus dividends paid) as at 31 December for the relevant year.
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S Ordinary Shares Financial Highlights

Financial History
31 December 2007

Net asset value
Net asset value per S Ordinary share
Total return (without initial tax relief)A
Total return (with initial tax relief)B
Share priceC
Premium to net asset value
Ordinary shares in issue
A
B
C

£4,831,000
97.2p
97.2p
127.4p
100.0P
2.9%
4,972,459

Sum of net asset value per share and dividends paid to date.
Sum of net asset value per share, initial income tax relief at 30% and dividends paid to date.
Source: Bloomberg.

Dividends
Year ended November

2007 proposed
Total dividends paid or declared

Payment date

Revenue/Capital

Interim/final

Rate (p)

20 May 2008

Revenue

Final

1.25
1.25

NAV Performance (p)
120
NAV
110

100

90

80

70

Launch

2007

The chart shows the net asset value total return (net asset value plus dividends paid) as at 31 December for the relevant year.
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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to report on a year of further consolidation and
progress for your company. Among the highlights are:












*bgV^hZY^ci]ZHH]VgZ^hhjZ
FjVa^[n^c\i]gZh]daYd[,%VX]^ZkZY^cDgY^cVgnH]VgZ
Pool
IdiVaGZijgcdcDgY^cVgnh]VgZhhiVWaZVi&&'#.eeZg
share (pps) at year end, fractionally down 1.1% over the
year
C6Kd[DgY^cVgnh]VgZhVinZVgZcYd[&%)#.eeh
C6Kd[HH]VgZh.,#'eehVinZVgZcYje[gdb.*#%e
immediately after launch, an increase of 2.3%
Higdc\aZkZad[cZl^ckZhibZciVXi^k^in0&'cZleg^kViZ
equity investments completed for Ordinary Share pool,
9 for S Share
DcZhjXXZhh[jaZm^i[gdbVcjca^hiZYXdbeVcnYjg^c\
the year generating a gain of 3.2p per Ordinary share
CZigZVa^hZY\V^ch[gdb6>BhidX`hd[&#*eeZgDgY^cVgn
share for the year
9^k^YZcYhegdedhZYd[&#*eeZgDgY^cVgnh]VgZVcY
1.25p per S Share

The Net Asset Value (NAV) per Ordinary share at 31
December 2007, before payment of a dividend in respect of
the year then ended, was 104.9p compared with 112.9p at
(&9ZXZbWZg'%%+0]dlZkZgY^k^YZcYhidiVaa^c\+#%e]VY
been paid during the year which effectively reduced the
opening NAV by that amount.
The NAV per S Share at 31 December 2007 was 97.2p
which has increased by 2.2p since deduction of the launch
expenses.
The effect of paying the proposed dividends of 1.5p per
share on the Original pool and 1.25p on the S Shares will be
to reduce the NAV to 103.4p and 95.95p respectively.
The most important measure for a VCT is the total return
being the long term record of revenue and capital gains
dividend payments plus the current NAV. In the short term,
the NAV on its own is a less important measure of the
performance as the underlying investments are long-term in
nature and not readily realisable.

Dividend Policy
S Share Issue
The Company successfully raised £5 million in the S Share
issue, increasing the size of the overall capital base by
approximately 60% without a corresponding increase in
costs. This means that the cost base will be defrayed over
a larger fund size thereby improving the efficiency of the
Company.

K8IFjVa^[n^c\HiVijh

It was stated in the Company’s Prospectus that in the early
years dividends, if any, would be small until such times as
capital realisations occurred. Due to the exceptional gains
achieved in 2006, the Board declared dividends on the
Ordinary shares totalling 6.0p which were paid during 2007.
The Board is now recommending the payment of a final
dividend of 1.5p per Ordinary share and 1.25p per S Share,
both to be paid on 20 May 2008 to shareholders on the
register on 18 April 2008.

I am also pleased to report that during the year the
Company achieved the 70% qualifying investment hurdle
which it was required to do to maintain approval as a
VCT. The Company must continue to exceed the threshold
at all times in the future subject to certain exemptions
in particular circumstances. The Manager is well placed
i]gdj\]^ihgZ\^dcVacZildg`d[d[[^XZhidegdk^YZVhj^iVWaZ
flow of quality investment opportunities to ensure that
actual investment levels allow your company to significantly
exceed this minimum level.

The Board intends to pay regular dividends from realised
gains and hopes that the level of payment will be increased
over time but this cannot be guaranteed. All dividends are
of course paid tax free to shareholders and a net dividend
of 6.0p is equivalent to a yield of 10.0% to a higher rate
iVmeVnZg0^[i]Z^c^i^VaiVmgZa^Z[d[)%^hiV`Zc^cid
account the effective annual yield rises to 16.7%. Since the
Company’s launch, Ordinary shareholders will have received
9.5p per share in tax free dividends after receipt of the final
dividend.

Performance

Investment Strategy

The Total Return per Ordinary Share at 31 December 2007
was 112.9pps, a decrease of 1.1% over the equivalent figure
at December 2006, while for the S Share pool it was 97.2pps
compared with 95.0pps immediately after launch an increase
of 2.3%. The full year position of the Ordinary Share pool
]Vh[VaaZcWVX`[gdbi]ZVYkVcXZVX]^ZkZYVii]Z]Va[nZVg
YjZidi]ZYZXa^cZ^ci]ZkVajZd[6>BhidX`h!l]^X]aVg\Zan
reflects the 13.7% decline in the FTSE AIM All Share index in
the second half of the year.

The strategy for both the Ordinary share pool and the
S Share pool remains to build a diversified portfolio of
unlisted and AIM investments which offer excellent growth
prospects and therefore the opportunity for capital gains
in the medium and longer term while maintaining VCT
qualifying status. The Company does not currently utilise
\ZVg^c\^cbV`^c\^ih^ckZhibZcihWjii]Z7dVgYXdch^YZgh
i]Vi^ibVnWZVeegdeg^ViZ^cYjZXdjghZidiV`ZVYkVciV\Z
on a selective basis of its ability to borrow up to 10% of Net
Asset Value in pursuit of the investment strategy.
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Chairman’s Statement continued

Valuation Process
Investments held by Aberdeen Growth Opportunities
VCT 2 in unquoted companies are valued in accordance
with the International Private Equity And Venture Capital
Valuation Guidelines.
>ckZhibZcihfjdiZYdgigVYZYdcVgZXd\c^hZYhidX`
ZmX]Vc\Z^cXajY^c\i]Z6aiZgcVi^kZ>ckZhibZciBVg`Zi6>B
are valued at their bid price.

Dividend Re-investment
The Board suspended the operation of the dividend
re-investment scheme following the changes made in
recent Budgets to the VCT regulations insofar as the
operation of such schemes might be affected by those
changes. Once HMRC had clarified the situation, the Board
examined the practicalities of introducing a dividend
re-investment scheme for Shareholders who wished to
increase their holdings in the Company and decided
that Shareholders could gain access to the Company’s
h]VgZhdcWZiiZgiZgbh^ci]ZXjggZcibVg`Zii]gdj\]
i]Z^gdlcWgd`Zgh#>cVYY^i^dc!^i^hjca^`Zani]Vii]ZgZl^aa
WZhj[[^X^ZciHDgY^cVgnh]VgZhVkV^aVWaZ^ci]ZbVg`Zi
to enable the envisaged dividend reinvestment scheme
to operate until after the end of the five year minimum
holding period. Whilst there are generally no S Ordinary
shares available at present, a limited number of Ordinary
h]VgZh^hXjggZcianVkV^aVWaZ[dgejgX]VhZ^ci]ZbVg`Zi#
H]VgZ]daYZghVXfj^g^c\h]VgZh^ci]ZbVg`Zil^aacdifjVa^[n
for front-end tax relief but, provided the purchase is within
the £200,000 a year limit, all dividends received, out of
capital or income, are free of tax for a higher rate taxpayer.

Portfolio Developments
There was one successful exit from the Ordinary share pool
unlisted portfolio during the course of the year resulting
in a gain of £251,000, equivalent to 3.2p per share. Strong
progress was made in the continued establishment of a
diversified portfolio of private company investments with
12 new investments made by the Ordinary Share pool and 9
made by the S Shares. Pleasingly, early performance across
this new portfolio of private company assets is generally
very good, offering the prospect of future growth and profit
potential if this can be sustained.
On the AIM portfolios, realised gains amounting to 1.5p per
Ordinary share and 0.1p per S Share were also achieved over
the year. Further details of all of these disposals are given
later in this report.
I]Z6>BBVg`ZieZg[dgbZYlZaa^ci]Z[^ghi]Va[VX]^Zk^c\
an increase of 15% in the FTSE AIM All-share index. Since
i]Zc!]dlZkZg!hidX`hbVg`Zih]VkZYZXa^cZYVcYi]Z;IH:
AIM All-share index has given up all of that increase to finish
the year 0.5% below its starting point and since then has
continued to decline as credit crises and fears of recession
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]VkZ\g^eeZYi]ZbVg`Zih#;dgi]Z[jaanZVg!i]ZDgY^cVgn
share AIM portfolio saw a reduction in value of 2.1% and the
S Share pool a reduction of 11.4% compared to a reduction
in the FTSE AIM All-share index of 0.5% over the year. This
reflects the fact that the S Share pool began to invest at a
ed^cil]ZcbVg`ZihWZXVbZaZhhhiVWaZVcYijgcZYYdlc#
>cXdciZmi!i]ZWja`d[i]ZVhhZih]ZaYWnWdi]i]ZDgY^cVgn
Pool and the S Shares are in well managed, growing private
companies which are not directly affected by short term
fjdiZYbVg`Zieg^X^c\bdkZbZcih!VcYl]ZgZeZg[dgbVcXZ
remains encouraging overall. The Manager will continue to
[dXjhdci]ZbVg`Zi[dgeg^kViZZfj^inigVchVXi^dch!hZZ`^c\
to invest in well priced and yielding assets in an attempt to
drive future growth in the level of Total Return.

Co-Investment Scheme of the Manager
A Co-Investment scheme which allows executive members
of the Manager to invest alongside the Company was in
operation during the year. The scheme operates through a
nominee company which invests alongside the Company in
each and every transaction made by the Company, including
any follow-on investments.
The scheme more closely aligns the interests of the
executives and the Company’s shareholders while providing
an incentive to enable the Manager to retain the existing
h`^aahVcYXVeVX^ind[i]ZBVcV\Zg¼h^ckZhibZciiZVb^cV
]^\]anXdbeZi^i^kZbVg`Zi#

The Future
There has been a strong flow of new unlisted investments
made over the course of the year. The new investments
are generally trading well and should form the basis of
successful realisations in future periods although it is
too early to predict the quantum and timing of those
realisations. The Manager continues to be extremely
hZaZXi^kZ^ci]ZX]d^XZd[6>B^ckZhibZcih0i]ZhZ
are usually acquired with a shorter term investment
horizon than unlisted holdings and will continue to be
actively traded where early profits are available. These
holdings should provide realised gains in due course.
There is a continual need to re-invest following the
realisation of successful investments. The Company is
well placed to achieve this given the Manager’s extensive
cZildg`VcYadXVagZaVi^dch]^ehi]gdj\]djii]ZJ@[gdb
which investments can be sourced.

Ian Cormack
Chairman
17 April 2008

Analysis of Unlisted and AIM Portfolio
As at 31 December 2007

FT Industrial Sector

Ordinary Shares
Valuation
£’000
%

Unlisted
Support Services
Oil & Gas
Household Goods & Textiles
Engineering & Machinery
Electronic & Electrical Equipment
Telecommunication Services
Chemicals
Transport
Software & Computer Services
Construction & Building Materials
Utilities (ex-electricity)
Finance (general)
Total Unlisted

1,446
805
376
285
224
211
150
149
122
105
100
61
4,034

20.2
11.2
5.3
4.0
3.2
3.0
2.1
2.1
1.7
1.5
1.4
0.9
56.6

AIM
Support Services
Software & Computer Services
Telecommunication Services
Media & Entertainment
Engineering & Machinery
Household Goods & Textiles
Mining
Leisure & Hotels
Oil & Gas
Electronic & Electrical Equipment
Food Producers & Processors
Health
Speciality & Other Finance
Total AIM

959
492
246
224
212
171
168
166
124
118
84
78
41
3,083

13.5
6.9
3.5
3.2
3.0
2.4
2.4
2.3
1.7
1.7
1.2
1.1
0.5
43.4

Total Unlisted and AIM

7,117

100.0

S Ordinary Shares
Valuation
£’000
%

330
345

22.0
23.0

171

11.4

75
99

5.0
6.6

32
1,052

2.1
70.1

183
54
6
89
73
43

12.2
3.6
0.4
5.9
4.9
2.9

2

0.1

450

29.9

1,502

100.0
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Analysis of Unlisted and AIM Portfolio continued

Deal Type

Ordinary Shares
Valuation
Number
£’000

%

S Ordinary Shares
Valuation
Number
£’000

%

Unlisted
Management Buy-out
Development Capital
Management Buy-in
Acquisition Finance
Early Stage
Total Unlisted

9
6
3
2
2
22

2,182
890
590
248
124
4,034

30.7
12.5
8.3
3.5
1.6
56.6

4
2
3
2

451
249
253
99

30.0
16.6
16.8
6.7

11

1,052

70.1

AIM

34

3,083

43.4

12

450

29.9

Total Unlisted and AIM

56

7,117

100

23

1,502

100.0

Ordinary Shares

Management Buy-in
Early Stage
AIM
Management Buy-out
Development Capital
Acquisition Finance

S Ordinary Shares

Development Capital
Acquisition Finance
AIM
Management Buy-in
Management Buy-out

The pie charts illustrate deal type by valuation rather than cost and reflect only the invested portfolio excluding cash.
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Investment Manager’s Review

Investment Activity
During the year ended 31 December 2007, 12 new unlisted and 16 AIM investments were completed and a total of £6.1
million was invested of which £4.6 million was from the Original pool and £1.5 million was from the S Share pool. At the year
end, the portfolio stood at 56 unlisted and AIM investments at a total cost of £9.0 million. Since 31 December 2007, two
further new investments have been made at a cost of £300,000.
The following new investments have been completed during the year.

Investment

Date

Unlisted
Adler & Allan
Camwatch

Jun-07
Mar-07

H^a`lViZg=daY^c\h
(trading as
Cyclotech)
Darwen Group

Activity

Investment cost £’000
Ordinary S Ordinary
Shares
Shares Website

Handling and disposal of liquid waste
Provider of CCTV monitoring and
installation services
May-07 Provider of services to the energy
sector

150
211

75 lll#VYaZgVcYVaaVc#Xd#j`
www.cctv-monitoring.net

249

99 www.cyclotech.com

Sep-07

149

Bus manufacturer and low emission
technology group
Energy Services
Nov-07 Provider of services to the energy
Investment Company
sector
Funeral Services
Mar-07 Operator of funeral directors
Partnership
ID Support Services
Mar-07 CCTV security and air conditioning
systems
Lime Investments
Mar-07 Company set up to acquire branded
premium-end or niche food and
beverage businesses
Martel Instruments
Jan-07 Manufacturer of compact, handheld
printers and display devices
MoneyPlus Group
Dec-07 Provider of debt management
services to individuals
Stemininc (trading
Apr-07 Provider of industrial cleaning and
as MS Industrial
waste management services to the
Services)
oil and industrial sectors
Da^kZg@Vn=daY^c\h Jan-07 Supplier of fresh produce to the
dc"igVYZXViZg^c\^cYjhign^ci]ZJ@
Riverdale Publishing Apr-07 Publisher of greeting cards
Transys Holdings
Dec-07 Engineering Services to the rail
industry
Other
Total unlisted investment

100 lll#ZaXW#Xd#j`

248

99

298

124

204

50 lll#^Y"\gdje#Xd#j`

199

224
25
184

www.martelinstruments.com
125 lll#X]^aiZgc#j`#Xdb
84 lll#bh^h#j`#Xdb

209
174
249

lll#da^kZg`VnegdYjXZ#Xd#j`
lll#g^kZgYVaZejWa^h]^c\#Xd#j`
149 lll#igVchnhegd_ZXih#aiY#j`

99

39

2,872

944
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Investment Manager’s Review continued

Investment

Date

AIM/PLUS
Avanti
Communications

Apr-07

Bglobal

Concateno
Craneware

DM

Essentially Group

eXpansys

Formation Group
Melorio

Mount Engineering

Plastics Capital
Pressure
Technologies

Smart Identity
St Helen's Capital
Universe Group

Worthington
Nicholls Group

Activity

Provider of satellite
telecommunications services in
Europe using leased satellite capacity
Apr-07 Provider of automatic meter reading
and management of electricity and
gas meters
Jun-07 Provider of services for the testing of
employees for drugs and alcohol
Sep-07 Provider of billing and auditing
software for use in the US healthcare
bVg`Zi
Apr-07 Egdk^YZgd[Y^gZXibVg`Zi^c\\gdje
specialising in gathering consumer
YViV[dgjhZ^cY^gZXibVg`Zi^c\
campaigns
Jul-07
Egdk^YZgd[hedgihbVg`Zi^c\!bZY^V
management and professional
services group
Apr-07 Seller of mobile and wireless
technology products over the
internet
Jun-07 Provider of wealth management and
related professional services
Oct-07 J@egdk^YZgd[dch^iZVhhZhhbZci
and training within the construction
industry
Jun-07 BVcj[VXijgZg!hidX`^hiVcY
distributor of engineering products
for oil, gas, power, water and general
^cYjhig^VabVg`Zih
Dec-07 Manufacturer of plastic components
Jun-07 Niche designer and manufacturer
of high pressure seamless steel
gas cylinders for global energy and
YZ[ZcXZbVg`Zi
Sep-07 Software developer of identity
management solutions
Jun-07 Provider of corporate advisory
services.
Apr-07 Provider of managed services and
payment solutions to the petrol
retail sector
May-07 Provider of installation and
maintenance of air conditioning units
^ci]Z]diZaVcYgZiV^abVg`Zih

Investment cost £’000
Ordinary S Ordinary
Shares
Shares Website

69

www.avanti-communications.
com

52

25 www.bglobalmetering.com

91

51 www.concateno.com

150

49 www.craneware.com

100

50 www.dmplc.com

135

49 www.essentiallygroup.com

100

25 www.expansys.com

50

50 www.formationgroupplc.com

148

90 www.melorio.com

172

49 www.mountengineering.com

197
148

50 www.plasticscapital.com
www.pressuretechnologies.
Xd#j`

72

lll#hbVgi^YZci^in#Xd#j`

26

www.sthelenscapital.com

100

lll#jc^kZghZ"\gdje#Xd#j`

47 www.worthington-nicholls.
Xd#j`

Other
Total AIM/PLUS investment

81
1,691

28
563

Total

4,563

1,507
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Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 has co-invested with
Aberdeen Development Capital, Aberdeen Growth VCT I,
Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Talisman First Venture
Capital Trust, Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT and
Guinness Flight Venture Capital Trust in some or all of the
above transactions and is expected to continue to do so with
these as well as other clients of the Manager. The advantage
is that, together, the funds are able to underwrite a wider
range and size of transaction than would be the case on a
stand alone basis.

In addition to the realised gains mentioned above details
of which can be found in the table overleaf, unrealised
losses compared to valuations at December 2006 totalling
£179,000 arose on the original pool of investments.
In the unlisted portfolio, unrealised gains on Homelux
Nenplas (£61,000) and MoneyPlus Group (£80,000)
reflecting improving prospects for those companies were
offset by reductions in the value of Oled - T (£89,000)
and Riverdale Publishing (£175,000), where trading had
been disappointing and resulted in the company entering
administration in late February 2008.

Portfolio Developments

In the S Share pool, the most significant item was again
Worthington Nicholls which fell in value by £43,000 more
than the overall unrealised loss on the portfolio for the
year. Notwithstanding the effect of the investment in
Worthington Nicholls, the value of the S Share portfolio
remains at cost.

Following a number of successful realisations during 2006,
one further realisation from the Original pool has occurred
in the reporting period as shown in the table immediately
following this review. During the reporting period 12
new substantial unlisted investments and 16 new AIM
investments have been added in rebuilding the portfolio.
We are pleased to note that these investments are generally
trading in line with or ahead of their business plan since
^ckZhibZci0]dlZkZg!^i^ha^`ZanidWZhdbZi^bZWZ[dgZ
these investments reach a level of maturity which enables
profitable exits to be negotiated.
The sale of the investment in EIG (Investments) was
successfully completed in January 2007 approximately 15
months after first investing realising £502,000 during the
reporting period compared to the cost of the investment of
£251,000.
The AIM portfolio continued to be actively traded when the
opportunity arose, recognising the more unstable conditions
which prevailed in the second half of the year. Net gains of
£123,000 were generated for the Original Pool and a gain
of £7,000 for the S Share pool over the year. The FTSE AIM
6aa"h]VgZ^cYZm]VhYZXa^cZYdkZgi]ZnZVgWn%#*0i]Z
performance of the Company’s portfolio is a decline of 2.1%
on the Original Pool while the S Share pool saw a decline of
11.4% from the time it started investing.

Investments in the unlisted portfolio are generally trading
well but, if there is any underperformance, particular
attention is paid to those companies by the Manager
to effect an improvement and protect the value of the
investment.

Djiadd`
The pipeline of new private company investments remains
healthy, with significant merger and acquisition activity
XjggZcian^cZk^YZcXZdci]ZWVX`d[^beZcY^c\X]Vc\Zh
in Capital Gains Tax legislation, which is motivating some
owners of private companies to sell their businesses now
in order to reduce a potentially higher future tax liability.
8dckZghZan!deedgijc^i^Zhid^ckZhi^ci]Z6>BbVg`ZiVgZ
egZhZciangZYjXZY0gZXZcikdaVi^a^in]VhhZZc[ZlZgcZl
IPOs in the early part of 2008 and we expect this trend to
continue for the immediate future.
Overall, the level of new investment activity remains very
positive with a significant number of new transactions in
egdXZhhVXgdhhi]ZBVcV\Zg¼hcZildg`d[J@d[[^XZh#I]^h
activity will help further build the unlisted portfolio held by
your company throughout 2008 and beyond.
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Investment Manager’s Review continued

Realisations during the financial year

Unlisted
EIG (Investments)

AIM
AT Communications
Avanti Screenmedia
Bglobal
Eleco
Expansys
Hambledon Mining
MTI Wireless Edge
Pressure Technologies
Velosi
Worthington Nicholls Group
Other

Ordinary Share
Cost of
shares
disposed
Sales
Realised
of
proceeds gain/loss
£’000
£’000
£’000

S Share
Cost of
shares
disposed
of
£’000

Sales
proceeds
£’000

Realised
gain/loss
£’000

25

27

2

Date first
invested

Complete/
partial Exit

2005

Complete

251
251

502
502

251
251

2005
2005
2007
2006
2007
2006
2006
2007
2006
2006

Partial
Complete
Complete
Complete
Partial
Partial
Complete
Partial
Complete
Partial

121
78
52
99
68
21
41
53
100
8
149
790

137
79
57
115
82
46
52
70
128
26
121
913

16
1
5
16
14
25
11
17
28
18
(28)
123

17

20

3

6
48

8
55

2
7

1,041

1,415

374

48

55

7

Total
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Summary of Investment Changes

Ordinary Shares
Valuation
31 December 2006
£’000
%

Unlisted investments
Equities
Preference
AdVchidX`h

Net investment
(disinvestment)
£’000

Appreciation
(depreciation)
£’000

Valuation
31 December 2007
£’000
%

734
67
916
1,717

8.4
0.8
10.4
19.6

256
(35)
2,149
2,370

71
(1)
(123)
(53)

1,061
31
2,942
4,034

12.9
0.4
35.8
49.1

AIM investments
Equities

2,369

27.0

778

(64)

3,083

37.5

Listed investments
Fixed income
Unit trusts
Total investments

2,983
1,040
8,109

33.9
11.8
92.3

(2,399)
(1,024)
(275)

13
(16)
(120)

597
–
7,714

7.3
–
93.9

680

7.7

(173)

–

507

6.1

8,789

100.0

(448)

(120)

8,221

100.0

Other net assets
Total assets

S Ordinary Shares
Valuation
31 December 2006
£’000
%

Unlisted investments
Equities
Preference
AdVchidX`h

Net investment
(disinvestment)
£’000

Appreciation
(depreciation)
£’000

Valuation
31 December 2007
£’000
%

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

128
4
812
944

108
–
–
108

236
4
812
1,052

4.9
0.1
16.8
21.8

AIM investments
Equities

–

–

508

(58)

450

9.3

Listed investments
Fixed income
Total investments

–
–

–
–

2,973
4,425

19
69

2,992
4,494

61.9
93.0

Other net assets

–

–

337

–

337

7.0

Total assets

–

–

4,762

69

4,831

100.0

Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC 11

Investment Portfolio Summary

Ordinary Share

Investment

Unlisted
Homelux Nenplas Limited

S Ordinary Shares

Cost

% of
total
assets

% of
equity
held

% of
equity
held by
other
clientsA

Valuation

Cost

% of
total
assets

376

199

4.6

–

–

–

3.4

41.6

330

250

4.0

125

125

2.7

5.9

33.1

329

204

4.0

80

50

1.8

2.7

29.4

298

298

3.6

124

124

2.7

3.0

25.0

296

249

3.6

118

99

2.5

4.8

14.0

285

249

3.5

171

149

3.6

4.6

65.0

248

248

3.0

99

99

2.1

13.3

68.2

224

224

2.7

–

–

–

3.2

30.2

211

211

2.6

–

–

–

4.0

39.5

209

209

2.5

–

–

–

1.3

18.7

199

199

2.4

–

–

–

7.6

72.4

184

184

2.2

84

84

1.8

4.5

40.0

150

150

1.8

75

75

1.7

1.0

38.6

149

149

1.8

100

100

2.2

7.0

15.1

Valuation

Manufacturer of plastic tiling trims and
related products

MoneyPlus Group Limited
Debt management services to individuals

ID Support Services Holdings Limited
Provider of CCTV security and air
conditioning systems

Funeral Services Partnership Limited
Operator of funeral directors

H^a`lViZg=daY^c\hA^b^iZY
(trading as Cyclotech)
Provider of services to the energy sector

Transys Holdings Limited
Provider of engineering services to the rail
industry

Energy Services Investment Company
(ESIC) Limited
Provider of services to the energy sector

Martel Instruments Holdings Limited
Manufacturer of compact, handheld printers
and display devices

Camwatch Limited
Provider of CCTV monitoring and
installation services

Da^kZg@Vn=daY^c\hA^b^iZY
Supplier of fresh produce to the on–trade
XViZg^c\^cYjhign^ci]ZJ@

Lime Investments Limited
Company set up to acquire branded
premium–end or niche food and beverage
businesses

Steminic Limited (trading as MS
Industrial Services)
Provider of industrial cleaning and waste
management services to the oil and
industrial sectors

Adler & Allan Holdings Limited
Provider of liquid waste handling and
disposal services

Darwen Group plc
Bus manufacturer and low emission
technology group
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Ordinary Share

Investment

Essential Viewing Systems Limited

S Ordinary Shares

Cost

% of
total
assets

% of
equity
held

% of
equity
held by
other
clientsA

Valuation

Cost

% of
total
assets

122

162

1.5

–

–

–

9.5

39.9

105

105

1.3

–

–

–

0.6

7.1

100

100

1.2

–

–

–

0.4

79.2

77

6

1.0

43

3

–

2.0

24.6

142
4,034

712
4,108

1.8
49.1

33
1,052

36
944

0.7
21.8

212

176

2.6

43

50

0.9

0.4

1.1

210

138

2.6

–

–

–

0.4

2.2

185

100

2.3

–

–

–

–

4.9

171

197

2.1

44

50

0.9

0.9

2.0

170

106

2.1

–

–

–

0.4

3.2

168

94

2.0

–

–

–

0.2

0.1

166

143

2.0

54

49

1.1

0.9

0.6

163

172

2.0

46

49

1.0

1.3

1.1

158

151

1.9

–

–

–

0.5

1.7

Valuation

Developer of video streaming software

Buildstore Limited
Provider of services to self build
homeowners

Enpure Holdings Limited
Provider of process engineering and project
management services

Countcar Limited
Provider of tool, plant hire and hydraulic
products to the oil and gas industry

Others

AIM/PLUS
Concateno plc
Provider of services for the testing of
employees for drugs and alcohol

Software Radio Technology PLC
Provider of wireless technology products
and services

Litcomp plc
National supplier of medical reports in
support of legal actions

Plastics Capital Plc
Manufacturer of plastic components

Axeon plc
Developer of semiconductor intellectual
property specifically geared to the
automotive industry

Hambledon Mining PLC
Exploration and mining of precious metals
^c@VoV`]hiVc

Craneware plc
Provider of billing and auditing software for
jhZ^ci]ZJH]ZVai]XVgZbVg`Zi

Mount Engineering plc
BVcj[VXijgZg!hidX`^hiVcYY^hig^Wjidgd[
engineering products for oil, gas, power,
lViZgVcY\ZcZgVa^cYjhig^VabVg`Zih

Amazing Holdings PLC
Leisure and hotel developer
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Investment Portfolio Summary continued

Ordinary Share

Investment

Melorio Plc

S Ordinary Shares

Cost

% of
total
assets

% of
equity
held

% of
equity
held by
other
clientsA

0.3

Valuation

Cost

% of
total
assets

155

148

1.9

94

90

1.9

0.8

124

95

1.5

–

–

–

0.6

124

151

1.5

–

–

–

0.7

2.6

118

135

1.4

43

49

0.9

1.0

0.6

118

151

1.4

–

–

–

0.9

1.1

90

94

1.1

45

47

0.9

0.6

–

89

100

1.1

–

–

–

1.2

1.4

78

89

0.9

–

–

–

0.6

1.3

74

72

0.9

–

–

–

9.6

17.1

65

150

0.8

–

–

–

0.3

1.0

60

69

0.7

–

–

–

0.1

1.3

54

49

0.7

–

–

–

0.2

1.8

50

152

0.6

–

–

–

0.1

0.4

47

85

0.6

–

–

–

0.5

0.9

Valuation

J@egdk^YZgd[dch^iZVhhZhhbZciVcY
training within the construction industry

Pressure Technologies PLC
Niche designer and manufacturer of high
pressure seamless steel gas cylinders for
\adWVaZcZg\nVcYYZ[ZcXZbVg`Zi

Ldg`<gdjeEA8
Provider of recruitment services

Essentially Group PLC
HedgihbVg`Zi^c\!bZY^VbVcV\ZbZciVcY
professional services group

Datong PLC
Producer of devices that enable government
intelligence and defence agencies to
XdkZgianigVX`kZ]^XaZhVcYbdW^aZe]dcZh

DM PLC
9^gZXibVg`Zi^c\\gdjeheZX^Va^h^c\^c
gathering consumer data for use in direct
bVg`Zi^c\XVbeV^\ch

Universe Group PLC
Provider of managed services and payment
solutions to the petrol retail sector

Neutrahealth plc
Manufacturer and distributor of
nutraceutical products

Smart Identity plc
Software developer of identity management
solutions

System C Healthcare plc
Information services and IT systems to the
healthcare sector in England

Avanti Communications Group Plc
Provides satellite telecommunications
services in Europe using leased satellite
capacity

Hasgrove plc
Provider of communication services in
public relations, public affairs, graphic
YZh^\c!VYkZgi^h^c\VcYdc·a^cZbVg`Zi^c\

Imprint PLC
Provider of recruitment services

Gold Frost Limited
EgdYjXZgd[`dh]Zg[ddYegdYjXih
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Ordinary Share

Investment

S Ordinary Shares

Cost

% of
total
assets

% of
equity
held

% of
equity
held by
other
clientsA

Valuation

Cost

% of
total
assets

46

50

0.6

46

50

1.0

0.2

0.2

40

26

0.5

–

–

–

0.6

4.2

37

45

0.5

–

–

–

0.1

1.1

27

107

0.3

4

47

0.1

0.2

1.3

25

31

0.3

–

–

–

0.1

0.2

59
3,083

330
3,406

0.6
37.5

31
450

34
515

0.6
9.3

–
597
597
7,714

–
588
588
8,102

–
7.3
7.3
93.9

1,500
1,492
2,992
4,494

1,499
1,474
2,973
4,432

31.0
30.9
61.9
93.0

Formation Group PLC

Valuation

Provider of wealth management and related
professional services

St Helen's Capital PLC
Provider of corporate advisory services

Individual Restaurant Company plc
Restaurant operator

Worthington Nicholls Group PLC
Installation and maintenance of air
conditioning units in the hotel and retail
bVg`Zih

eXpansys PLC
Seller of mobile and wireless technology
products over the internet

Others

Listed fixed income investments
Treasury 5% 07/03/08
Treasury 4% 07/03/09
Total
A

Other clients of the Aberdeen Asset Management Group.
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Largest Unlisted and AIM Investments

Transys Holdings Limited

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

398
Cost (£’000)
Year endedA
456
Valuation (£’000)
£’000
£’000
Earnings
Basis of valuation
Sales
4.6%
Equity held
Retained profit/(loss)
Income received (£’000)
Nil
Net assets
December 2007
First invested
Provider of engineering services to the rail industry
Aberdeen Development Capital, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT , Aberdeen Income and
Growth VCT, Aberdeen City Council Pension Fund

MoneyPlus Group Limited
375
Cost (£’000)
455
Valuation (£’000)
BVg`ZikVajZVhhZhhbZci
Basis of valuation
5.9%
Equity held
Income received (£’000)
20
November 2005
First invested
Provider of debt management services to individuals
Other AAMPE Clients
invested

Year ended
Sales
Profit/(loss) before tax
Retained profit/(loss)
Net assets

31 Oct 2006
£’000
4,489
79
61
654

£’000

Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT

Funeral Services Partnership Limited

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

422
Cost (£’000)
Year endedA
422
Valuation (£’000)
£’000
£’000
Cost
Basis of valuation
Sales
3.0%
Equity held
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income received (£’000)
Nil
Retained profit/(loss)
March 2007
First invested
Net assets
Operator of funeral directors
Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Guinness Flight
VCT, Talisman First Venture Capital Trust, Laminvest

H^a`lViZg=daY^c\hA^b^iZY8nXadiZX]
Cost (£’000)
Valuation (£’000)
Basis of valuation
Equity held
Income received (£’000)
First invested
Other AAMPE Clients
invested

348
414
Earnings
4.8%
Nil
May 2007

Year endedA
£’000

£’000

Sales
Profit/(loss) before tax
Retained profit/(loss)
Net assets

Provider of services to the energy sector
Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Talisman First
Venture Capital Trust

ID Support Services Limited

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

254
Cost (£’000)
Year endedA
409
Valuation (£’000)
£’000
£’000
Earnings
Basis of valuation
Sales
2.7%
Equity held
Income received (£’000)
Nil
Retained profit/(loss)
March 2007
First invested
Net assets
CCTV security and air conditioning systems
Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Talisman First
KZcijgZ8Ve^iVaIgjhi!Ndg`h]^gZ>ckZhidgh(!AVb^ckZhi
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Homelux Nenplas Limited

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

199
Cost (£’000)
Year ended
31 May 2007
376
Valuation (£’000)
£’000
£’000
N/A
Earnings
Basis of valuation
SalesC
3.4%
1,134
Equity held
Profit/(loss) before tax
901
Income received (£’000)
27
Retained profit/(loss)
May 2006
1,390
First invested
Net assets
Manufacturer of plastic tiling trims and related products
Aberdeen Development Capital, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Aberdeen Income and
Growth VCT, Talisman First Venture Capital Trust, Laminvest

Energy Services Investment Company (ESIC) Limited

eesic
ENERGY SERVICES INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

347
Cost (£’000)
Year endedA
347
Valuation (£’000)
£’000
Cost
Basis of valuation
Sales
13.3%
Equity held
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income received
Nil
Retained profit/(loss)
November 2007
First invested
Net assets
Provider of services to the energy Sector
Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT

£’000

Steminic Limited (MS Industrial Services)
Cost (£’000)

Year endedA

Valuation (£’000)

268

Basis of valuation

Cost

Sales

Equity held

4.5%

Profit/(loss) before tax

Income received
First invested
Other AAMPE Clients
invested

268

Nil
April 2007

£’000

£’000

Retained profit/(loss)
Net assets

Provider of industrial cleaning and waste management services to the oil and industrial sectors
Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Talisman First
Venture Capital Trust.

Concateno Plc
Cost (£’000)
Valuation (£’000)
Basis of valuation
Equity held

Other AAMPE Clients
invested

226
255
Bid Price
0.4%

Year ended
Sales
Profit/(loss) before tax

31 Dec 2006 31 Mar 2006B
£’000
£’000
721
Nil
(843)
(645)

(670)
(645)
Income received
Nil
Retained profit/(loss)
October 2006
5,684
3,973
First invested
Net assets
Provider of services for the testing of employees for drugs and alcohol
Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Talisman First
Venture Capital Trust

Melorio PLC
Cost (£’000)
Valuation (£’000)
Basis of valuation
Equity held
Income received
First invested
Other AAMPE Clients
invested
A
B
C

238
249
Bid price
0.8%
Nil
October 2007

Year endedA
£’000

£’000

Sales
Profit/(loss) before tax
Retained profit/(loss)
Net assets

Provider of onsite assessment and training within the construction industry
Aberdeen Income and Growth VCT, Aberdeen Growth VCT I, Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT, Talisman First
Venture Capital Trust

These companies have not yet produced their first report and accounts
First year end 31st March 2006 with future results reported on 31st December
This company does not reveal its turnover as permitted under the provisions of the Companies Act relating to medium-sized companies.
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Your Board

The Board of five Directors, and one alternate Director, all of whom are non-executive and the majority of whom are
considered by the Board to be independent of the Manager, supervises the management of Aberdeen Growth Opportunities
K8I'EA8VcYadd`hV[iZgi]Z^ciZgZhihd[^ihH]VgZ]daYZgh#
Ian Cormack, Independent
non-executive Director and Chairman

Martin Gilbert, Non-executive
Director

Malcolm Graham-Wood, Independent
non-executive Director

Age: 61
Length of service: Appointed
a Director and Chairman in
September 2004.
Relevant experience and other
directorships:Bg8dgbVX`heZci
30 years at Citigroup (formerly
8^i^WVc`!dXXjen^c\bVcnhZc^dg
edh^i^dch^ci]ZWVc`^cXajY^c\8djcign
=ZVY88D[dg8^i^Xdge^ci]ZJ@!
8]V^gbVcd[8^i^WVc`>ciZgcVi^dcVa
and most recently occupying the
position of Co-head of Global Financial
Institutions. Following his career at
Citigroup, he spent two years at AIG
Inc where he was Chief Executive of
insurance, financial services and asset
management businesses in Europe.
=Z^hXjggZcianVeVgicZgVi8dgbVX`
Tansey Partners, a consulting practice,
and holds a number of directorships.
Committee membership: Audit
(Chairman), Management Engagement
(Chairman) and Nomination
(Chairman)
Employment by the Manager: None
Other connections with the
Manager: None
Shared directorships with other
Directors: None

Age: 52
Length of service: Appointed a
Director in September 2004.
Relevant experience and other
directorships: Mr Gilbert qualified
as a chartered accountant in 1982
and thereafter pursued a career in
investment management. He was
one of the founding directors and is
chief executive of Aberdeen Asset
Management PLC. He is Chairman of
FirstGroup Plc and Chaucer Holdings
PLC. He is also a director of Aberdeen
Asian Smaller Companies Investment
Trust PLC, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific
Income Fund Inc, Aberdeen AsiaPacific Income Investment Company
Limited, Aberdeen Development
Capital PLC, Aberdeen Football Club
plc, Aberdeen Global Income Fund Inc,
Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT
PLC, Aberdeen Growth VCT I PLC and
Primary Health Properties PLC.
Committee membership: Nomination
Employment by the Manager:
Chief Executive of Aberdeen Asset
Management PLC
Other connections with Manager:
Director of Aberdeen Asset Managers
Limited
Shared directorships with other
Directors: Mr Nixon is alternate
director for Mr Gilbert on Aberdeen
Growth Opportunities VCT PLC and
Aberdeen Growth VCT I PLC.

Age: 50
Length of service: Appointed a
Director in September 2004.
Relevant experience and other
directorships: Mr Graham-Wood
WZ\Vc]^hXVgZZgl^i]LddYBVX`Zco^Z
in 1979. He has spent the past 25
nZVghldg`^c\^ci]Z8^inVhVcVcVanhi
VcYlVh]ZVYd[i]ZJ@Zfj^in
department at Williams de Broe.
Committee membership: Audit,
Management Engagement and
Nomination
Employment by the Manager: None
Other connections with the
Manager: None
Shared directorships with other
Directors: None
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Andrew Lapping, Independent nonexecutive Director

Bill Nixon, Alternate Director for
Martin Gilbert

Steven Scott, Independent nonexecutive Director

Age: 44
Length of service: Appointed a
Director in September 2004.
Relevant experience and other
directorships: BgAVee^c\ldg`ZY
for PricewaterhouseCoopers for
twelve years, specialising in corporate
finance and tax planning. In 1999 he
established a private equity company,
The Hamilton Portfolio Limited, of
which he is Managing Director. He has
managed a number of private equity
and AIM investments. He is a Fellow
of The Chartered Institute of Taxation
and is a non-executive director of a
number of private companies.
Committee membership: Audit,
Management Engagement and
Nomination
Employment by the Manager: None
Other connections with the
Manager: None
Shared directorships with other
Directors: None

Age: 44
Length of service: Appointed an
alternate Director in November 2005.
Relevant experience and other
directorships: Mr Nixon is Head of
the Growth Capital team at Aberdeen
Asset Management Private Equity
(AAMPE) and a member of the
executive management committee
of AAMPE. He has led more than 40
completed private equity transactions
i]gdj\]djii]ZJ@h^cXZXdbbZcX^c\
his career in private equity in 1991. He
is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute
d[7Vc`Zgh^cHXdiaVcYVcYdWiV^cZY
a Masters of Business Administration
degree from Strathclyde University in
1996. Before joining Aberdeen in 1999,
he was head of the private equity
Wjh^cZhhVi8anYZhYVaZ7Vc`eaX!V
hjWh^Y^Vgnd[CVi^dcVa6jhigVa^V7Vc`#
Employment by the Manager: Since
1999
Other connections with the
Manager: None
Shared directorships with other
Directors: Mr Nixon is alternate
director for Martin Gilbert on Aberdeen
Growth VCT I PLC and Aberdeen
Growth Opportunities VCT PLC.

Age: 42
Length of service: Appointed a
Director in September 2004.
Relevant experience and other
directorships: Mr Scott is a qualified
X]VgiZgZYVXXdjciVci#=Zldg`ZY
^ci]Z7Vc`d[HXdiaVcYHigjXijgZY
Finance Group before becoming a
Y^gZXidgd[GdnVa7Vc`9ZkZadebZci
Capital, the private equity division
d[I]ZGdnVa7Vc`d[HXdiaVcYeaX#
In 1999, he founded Penta Capital,
Vc^cYZeZcYZciJ@eg^kViZZfj^in
manager with around £180 million
under management. Penta Capital
manages two debut funds, a midbVg`Zi[jcYVcYVcZVganhiV\Z
technology fund.
Committee membership: Audit,
Management Engagement and
Nomination
Employment by the Manager: None
Other connections with the
Manager: None
Shared directorships with other
Directors: None
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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit their Annual Report together with the
Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2007.

Results and dividends
The revenue attributable to Ordinary Shareholders for the
year amounted to £141,000 (2006 - £78,000). The net
loss attributable to Ordinary Shareholders for the year was
£98,000 compared with a total return of £1,312,000 in
2006. The net asset value per Ordinary share at
31 December 2007 was 104.9p (2006 – 112.2p). Having paid
an interim dividend for the year of 2.0p in October 2007,
the Directors propose a final dividend for the year of 1.5 p
per Ordinary share, payable on 20 May 2008 to Ordinary
Shareholders on the register at the close of business on 18
April 2008.
The revenue attributable to S Ordinary Shareholders for the
year amounted to £77,000 (2006 - N/A). The total return
attributable to S Ordinary Shareholders for the year was
£107,000 (2006 - N/A). The net asset value per S Ordinary
share at 31 December 2007 was 97.2p (2006 – N/A). The
Directors propose a final dividend for the year of 1.25p per
S Ordinary share, payable on 20 May 2008 to S Ordinary
Shareholders on the register at the close of business on 18
April 2008.

Business review
A review of the Company’s activities is given in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 and 4 and in the
Investment Manager’s Review on pages 7 to 10.
A summary of the business objectives, the Board’s strategy
[dgVX]^Zk^c\i]Zb!i]Zg^h`h[VXZYVcYi]Z`ZneZg[dgbVcXZ
indicators is given below.

Investment objective and policy
The Company aims to achieve long term capital appreciation
and generate maintainable levels of income for shareholders.
The Company intends to achieve its objective by:
 ^ckZhi^c\i]ZbV_dg^ind[^ih[jcYh^cVY^kZgh^[^ZY
portfolio of shares and securities of smaller, unquoted
J@XdbeVc^ZhVcY^c6>BXdbeVc^Zhl]^X]bZZii]Z
criteria for VCT qualifying investments with strong
growth potential
 ^ckZhi^c\^ca^cZl^i]K8IgZ\jaVi^dch!cdbdgZi]Vc&
million in any company in one year and no more than
15% of the total investments by cost in one company at
the time of investment
 bV^ciV^c^c\VfjVa^[n^c\^ckZhibZciaZkZad[ViaZVhi,%
according to VCT regulations
 Wdggdl^c\jeid&*d[cZiVhhZikVajZdcVhZaZXi^kZ
basis in pursuit of investment strategy
 gZiV^c^c\i]ZhZgk^XZhd[VBVcV\Zgl]dXVcegdk^YZ
the breadth and depth of resources to achieve the
investment objective.
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I]Z8dbeVcnbVcV\ZhVcYb^c^b^hZh^ckZhibZcig^h`Wn/
 Y^kZgh^[n^c\VXgdhhVaVg\ZcjbWZgd[XdbeVc^Zh
 Y^kZgh^[n^c\VXgdhhVgVc\Zd[ZXdcdb^XhZXidgh
 VXi^kZanVcYXadhZanbdc^idg^c\i]Zegd\gZhhd[^ckZhiZZ
companies
 hZZ`^c\idVeed^ciVcdc"ZmXji^kZY^gZXidgidi]ZWdVgY
of each private investee company, provided from the
Manager’s investment management team or from its
pool of experienced independent directors
 Xd"^ckZhi^c\l^i]di]Zg[jcYhgjcWni]ZBVcV\Zg!^c
aVg\ZgYZVahl]^X]iZcYidXVggnaZhhg^h`
 cdi^ckZhi^c\^c]dhi^aZejWa^Xideg^kViZigVchVXi^dch
 gZiV^c^c\i]ZhZgk^XZhd[VBVcV\Zgl]dXVcegdk^YZi]Z
breadth and depth of resources required to meet the
criteria stated above
Di]Zgg^h`hVgZbVcV\ZYVh[daadlh/
 K8IfjVa^[n^c\g^h`^hb^c^b^hZYWngZiV^c^c\i]ZhZgk^XZh
of a Manager with the resources to provide sufficient
flow of investment opportunities and integrated
administrative and management systems to ensure
continuing compliance with regulations.
 g^h`hd[eda^i^XVaX]Vc\Z!ZmX]Vc\ZXdcigdah!iVmVi^dcdg
other regulations that might affect investee companies
VgZbdc^idgZYVcYiV`ZcVXXdjcid[WZ[dgZ^ckZhibZcih
are made and in determining valuations of unlisted
investments.

Statement of compliance with investment policy
That the Company is adhering to its stated investment
eda^XnVcYbVcV\^c\i]Zg^h`hVg^h^c\[gdb^iXVcWZhZZc^c
various tables and charts throughout the Annual Report and
from figures provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages
3 and 4.
The management of the investment portfolio has been
delegated to Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited, which also
provides administrative and financial management services
and, through its parent company, company secretarial
services to the Company. The Board is comfortable with
the depth and breadth of the Manager’s resources and its
cZildg`d[d[[^XZh!l]^X]Wdi]hjeeancZlYZVahVcYZcVWaZ
Aberdeen to monitor the geographically widespread portfolio
companies effectively.
The Investment Portfolio Summary shows the number of
investments in each portfolio and gives an indication of
the degree of co-investing with other Aberdeen clients. The
tabular Analyses of Unlisted and AIM Portfolio and Deal
Type show that the portfolio is diversified across a variety
of economic sectors and deal types. The level of qualifying
investments is monitored by the Manager on a daily basis
and reported to the Board quarterly.

@ZneZg[dgbVcXZ^cY^XVidgh
At each board meeting, the Directors consider a number of
performance measures to assess the Company’s success in
VX]^Zk^c\^ihdW_ZXi^kZh#I]Z`ZneZg[dgbVcXZ^cY^XVidghVgZ
as follows:
 CZiVhhZikVajZidiVagZijgc
 9^k^YZcYheZgh]VgZ
A historical record of these measures is shown on pages 1
and 2.
In addition, the Board considers peer group comparative
performance. The Company has continued its membership
of the Association of Investment Companies (AIC) and it
is hoped that the AIC’s monthly performance statistics
will provide a useful standard measure of comparative
performance in future.
Eg^cX^eVag^h`hVcYjcXZgiV^ci^Zh
I]Zeg^cX^eVag^h`h[VX^c\i]Z8dbeVcngZaViZid^ih
^ckZhibZciVXi^k^i^ZhVcY^cXajYZbVg`Zieg^XZ!^ciZgZhigViZ!
a^fj^Y^inVcYXgZY^i#6cZmeaVcVi^dcd[i]ZhZg^h`hVcY]dl
they are managed is contained in Note 18 to the financial
hiViZbZcihdceV\Zh)(VcY))#6YY^i^dcVag^h`h[VXZYWn
the Company, and the mitigation approach adopted by the
Board, are as follows:
(i)

Investment objective: The board’s aim is to maximise
absolute returns to shareholders while managing
g^h`WnZchjg^c\VcVeegdeg^ViZY^kZgh^[^XVi^dcd[
investments.

^^ >ckZhibZcieda^Xn/^cVeegdeg^ViZhidX`hZaZXi^dc
leading to underperformance in absolute and relative
iZgbh^hVg^h`l]^X]i]ZBVcV\Zgb^i^\ViZhWn
operating within investment guidelines and regularly
monitoring performance against the peer group.
^^^ 9^hXdjcikdaVi^a^in/YjZidaVX`d[a^fj^Y^in^ci]Z
hZXdcYVgnbVg`Zi!kZcijgZXVe^iVaigjhih]VgZhiZcYid
trade at discounts to net asset values which the Board
hZZ`hidbVcV\ZWnbV`^c\ejgX]VhZhd[h]VgZh^ci]Z
bVg`Zi[gdbi^bZidi^bZ#
^k GZ\jaVidgng^h`/i]Z8dbeVcndeZgViZh^cVXdbeaZm
regulatory environment and faces a number of related
g^h`h#6WgZVX]d[hZXi^dc-)'66d[i]Z>cXdbZ
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 could result in the
Company being subject to capital gains tax on the sale
of its investments. A breach of the VCT Regulations
could result in the loss of VCT status and consequent
loss of tax reliefs currently available to shareholders.
HZg^djhWgZVX]d[di]ZggZ\jaVi^dch!hjX]Vhi]ZJ@A6
Listing rules and the Companies Act 1985 could
aZVYidhjheZch^dc[gdbi]ZHidX`:mX]Vc\ZVcY
reputational damage. The board receives quarterly
reports from the Manager in order to monitor
compliance with regulations.
I]Z7dVgYXdch^YZghVaag^h`hVcYi]ZbZVhjgZh^ceaVXZid
manage them and monitors their management twice each
year.

Directors
The Directors who held office during the year are shown on
pages 18 and 19 of the Annual Report and their interests in
shares of the Company are shown below.
In accordance with the Articles of Association, directors
must offer themselves for re-election at least once every
three years and so Mr Lapping and Mr Scott, whose
biographies appear on page 19, retire by rotation at this
time and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. As
a non-independent director, Mr Gilbert offers himself for
re-election annually. Resolutions 4 to 6 to this effect will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
At its meeting in January 2008 the Nomination Committee
recommended to the Board that Mr Lapping, Mr Scott and
Mr M J Gilbert should be nominated for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting for the following reasons:
 BgAVee^c\!l]d]VhWZZcV9^gZXidgh^cXZ'%%)!Wg^c\h
to the board many years of experience at a senior level
in private equity and AIM investment.
 BgHXdii!l]d]VhWZZcVY^gZXidgh^cXZ'%%)!]VhVc
^c"YZei]`cdlaZY\Zd[i]Zeg^kViZZfj^inhZXidgVcY[jcY
management.
 Bg<^aWZgi!l]d]VhWZZcVY^gZXidgh^cXZ'%%)!egdk^YZh
i]Z7dVgYl^i]Vl^YZgVc\Zd[h`^aahVcYZmeZg^ZcXZVcY
VeVgi^XjaVg`cdlaZY\Zd[i]Z^ckZhibZci^cYjhign#
Mr M J Gilbert is a director of Aberdeen Asset Management
PLC and his alternate, Mr W R Nixon, is an employee of
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC. Aberdeen Asset Managers
Limited, a subsidiary of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC, is
entitled to receive investment management and secretarial
fees as described below. No other contract or arrangement
significant to the Company’s business and in which any of
the directors is interested has subsisted during the period.
The interests of the directors in the share capital of the
Company are as follows:
31 December
31 December
2007
2006
Ordinary
S shares
Ordinary
shares of 10p
of 10p shares of 10p

>98dgbVX`
M J Gilbert
W R Nixon
(as alternate for
M J Gilbert)
M Graham Wood
A Lapping
S Scott
Total

100,000
50,000
20,500

20,000
nil
10,000

100,000
50,000
20,500

10,000
25,000
15,000
220,500

10,000
nil
7,000
47,000

10,000
25,000
15,000
220,500

Unless otherwise stated, all holdings are beneficial. As at
29 February 2008, there have been no changes to the above
holdings.
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Directors’ Report continued

Manager and Company Secretary
Investment management services are provided to the
Company by Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited. The
Manager also provides accounting and administrative
services and, through its parent Company, Aberdeen Asset
Management PLC, company secretarial services.
For the year ended 31 December 2007, the investment
management and secretarial fees payable to the Aberdeen
Asset Management group have been calculated and charged
on the following basis:
(a)

(b)

an investment management fee of 2.0% per annum
of the total assets less adjusted liabilities of the
Company at the previous quarter end. The investment
management fee is chargeable 20% to revenue and
80% against capital reserves to reflect the Company’s
investment policy and prospective income and capital
growth. To the extent that the portfolio is invested in
any funds managed by any member of the Aberdeen
group and an annual fee is payable to that member,
the management fees derived from the amounts so
invested have been deducted in the calculation of fees
payable by the Company. As a result, the aggregate
of all such fees paid or payable to members of the
Aberdeen group do not exceed the maximum fee that
would be payable to the Manager if no part of the
portfolio was invested in funds managed by members
of the Aberdeen group. The effects of this arrangement
VgZYZiV^aZY^cCdiZ(dceV\Z(,0VcY
a secretarial fee of £64,000 a year, which is chargeable
100% to revenue. The secretarial fee (as shown in note
4 on page 38) is subject to an annual adjustment to
gZ[aZXibdkZbZci^ci]ZJ@8dchjbZgEg^XZh>cYZm#

By agreement with the Manager, the total management
and administrative expenses of the Company, inclusive
of irrecoverable VAT but exclusive of transaction costs
and expenses relating to the acquisition and disposal of
investments are capped at 3.5% of the net asset value at
the end of the relevant financial period, calculated before
deduction of management and administrative expenses in
respect of that financial year. Consequently, the amount
paid in management fees for the year ended 31 December
2007 is shown after the rebate of £28,807 (excluding VAT)
by the Manager,
The management agreement is terminable on twelve months
written notice expiring on or after 16 February 2009. Should
the Company terminate the management agreement before
that date, the Manager would be entitled to receive fees
which would otherwise have been due up until that date, or
up until the date of the end of the relevant notice period.
The Board has introduced a performance fee element to the
Manager’s fee in relation to the Ordinary share portfolio
only with effect from 1 January 2008. In respect of each six
month period the Company will pay the Manager a fee equal
to 20% of the increase in the net asset value of the Ordinary
shares between 30 June and 31 December in each year,
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VY_jhiZY[dgi]ZeVnbZcid[Y^k^YZcYhVcYi]ZWjnWVX`d[
shares during the period since the last performance fee was
eV^Y#6]^\]lViZgbVg`VggVc\ZbZcil^aadeZgViZhjX]i]Vi
the performance fee will become payable if and only if the
adjusted net asset value of the Ordinary shares at the period
end is higher than that at every previous period end since 31
December 2007.
In order to ensure that the Manager’s staff are appropriately
incentivised in relation to the portfolio, the manager
operates a co-investment scheme which requires nominated
individuals to participate in investments in portfolio
companies alongside the Company. All such investments
are made through a nominee and under terms previously
agreed by the Board. The terms of the scheme ensure that
all investments are made on identical terms to those of
the Company and no selection of investments is allowed.
The total investment by participants in the co-investment
scheme is set at 5% of the aggregate amount of ordinary
shares subscribed for by the Company and the co-investing
executives, except where the only securities to be acquired
by the Company are ordinary shares or are securities quoted
on AIM, in which case the co-investment percentage will
be 1.5%. The Directors believe that the scheme provides a
useful incentive to the manager’s staff and therefore more
XadhZanVa^\chi]Z^ciZgZhihd[`Zn^cY^k^YjVahl^i]i]dhZd[
Shareholders.
The Board considers the continued appointment of the
Manager on the agreed terms to be in the interests of the
Shareholders because of the quality of the investment
management service provided including the quality of
investment opportunities presented to and selected by the
Manager and the rate of early profitable realisations.

Issue of Ordinary shares
A Resolution, numbered 9 in the notice of meeting, will
be put to Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for
their approval to issue Ordinary Shares up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £78,351 (equivalent to 783,510
Ordinary shares or 10% of the total issued Ordinary share
capital at 15 February 2008) and S Ordinary Shares up to
an aggregate nominal amount of £49,724 (equivalent to
497,240 S Ordinary shares or 10% or the S Ordinary share
capital). Further issues of new Ordinary shares or S Ordinary
shares may be made only at a premium to net asset value
per share, thus ensuring that existing investors will not be
disadvantaged. The proceeds of any issue may be used to
ejgX]VhZi]Z8dbeVcn¼hh]VgZh^ci]ZbVg`Zidgid[jcY
further investments in accordance with the Company’s
investment policy. This authority will expire either at the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company or on the expiry of 15 months from the date of
the passing of the Resolution, whichever is earlier.
When shares are to be allotted for cash, Section 89(1) of
the Companies Act 1985 provides that existing shareholders
have pre-emption rights and that the new shares are offered
first to them in proportion to their existing shareholdings.

However, shareholders can by Special Resolution authorise
the directors to allot shares otherwise than by a pro rata
issue to existing shareholders. Resolution 10 will, if passed,
also give the directors power to allot for cash, Ordinary
shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £78,351 and
S Ordinary shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£49,724 as if Section 89(1) did not apply. This is the same
Vbdjcid[h]VgZXVe^iVai]Vii]ZY^gZXidghVgZhZZ`^c\i]Z
authority to allot pursuant to Resolution 9. This authority
will also expire either at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company or at the end
of 15 months from the passing of the relevant resolution,
whichever is earlier.

Purchase of shares
During the year ended 31 December 2007, no shares were
Wdj\]iWVX`[dgXVcXZaaVi^dc#
A Special Resolution, numbered 11 in the notice of Annual
General Meeting, will be put to Shareholders for their
approval to give the Board the authority to purchase in
i]ZbVg`ZiVcV\\gZ\ViZd[&%d[i]ZDgY^cVgnh]VgZh^c
issue (783,516 Ordinary shares) and 10% of the S Ordinary
shares in issue (497,245 S Ordinary shares)at 15 February
2008. This authority will expire on the date of the next
Annual General Meeting or after a period of 15 months
from the date of passing of the Resolution, whichever is the
earlier. This means, in effect, that the authority will have
to be renewed at the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company in 2009.
Purchases of shares may be made within guidelines
established from time to time by the Board, but only if it
is considered that they would be to the advantage of the
8dbeVcnVcY^ihh]VgZ]daYZghiV`ZcVhVl]daZ#EjgX]VhZh
l^aaWZbVYZ^ci]ZbVg`Zi[dgXVh]dcanVieg^XZhWZadl
the prevailing Net Asset Value per share. Under the Listing
GjaZhd[i]ZJ@A^hi^c\6ji]dg^in!i]ZbVm^bjbeg^XZi]Vi
may be paid on the exercise of this authority is 105% of
i]ZVkZgV\Zd[i]Zb^YYaZbVg`ZifjdiVi^dch[dgi]Zh]VgZh
over the five business days immediately preceding the date
of purchase. The minimum price that may be paid is 10p
eZgh]VgZ#>cbV`^c\ejgX]VhZh!i]Z8dbeVcnl^aaYZVadcan
l^i]bZbWZghd[i]ZAdcYdcHidX`:mX]Vc\Z#H]VgZhi]Vi
are purchased will be cancelled. Purchases of shares by the
Company will be made from distributable reserves and the
purchase price will normally be paid out of cash balances
held by the Company from time to time.
The purchase of shares by the Company is intended to help
to provide liquidity in the shares and enhance the net asset
value for the remaining shareholders. Since any purchases
will be made at a discount to net asset value at the time
of purchase, the net asset value of the remaining Ordinary
shares in issue will increase as the result of any purchase.
Shares will not be purchased by the Company in the period
of two months immediately preceding the notification
of the Company’s interim results and the two months
immediately preceding the preliminary announcement of the
annual results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the

Company’s relevant financial period up to and including the
time of the relevant announcement.

Corporate Governance
The Statement of Corporate Governance is shown on pages
26 to 29.

Principal activity and status
The Company’s affairs have been conducted in a manner
that will enable it to satisfy and maintain the conditions of
approval as a venture capital trust under section 842AA of
the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988. HM Revenue
& Customs will grant section 842AA status, if requested,
provided that the Company’s affairs have been conducted in
such a manner as to satisfy the conditions of that section of
the Act. Provisional approval was last granted in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2006.

Going concern
The directors believe that it is appropriate to continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements, as the Company has adequate financial
resources to enable it to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future.

Creditor payment policy
The Company’s creditor payment policy is to agree terms of
payment before business is transacted, to ensure suppliers
are aware of these terms and to settle bills in accordance
with them. The Company did not have any trade creditors at
the period end.

Annual General Meeting
The Notice of Annual General Meeting, is on pages 48
and 49. The meeting will be held on 15 May 2008 in the
Manager’s Glasgow office.

Auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information (as defined by section 234 ZA of the Companies
Act 1985) of which the Company’s auditors are unaware,
VcYZVX]d[i]ZY^gZXidgh]VhiV`ZcVaai]ZhiZehi]Vi]Z
dj\]iid]VkZiV`ZcVhV9^gZXidg^cdgYZgidbV`Z]^bhZa[
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
Ernst & Young LLP resigned as auditors on 22 August 2007.
Deloitte & Touche LLP were appointed as auditors on 3
October 2007. A resolution to reappoint Deloitte & Touche
LLP as auditors will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.
149 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5EA
17 April 2008

By order of the Board
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
Secretaries
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985.
An Ordinary Resolution numbered 2 for the approval of
this report will be put to the members at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.
The law requires the Company’s Auditors to audit certain
of the disclosures provided. Where disclosures have been
audited, they are indicated as such. The Auditors’ opinion is
included in their report on page 31.

Remuneration Committee
The Company has five non-executive Directors, four
of whom are independent, and one alternate Director.
The full Board performs the function of a remuneration
committee. Biographical details are set out on pages 18
and 19 of the Annual Report. Having been advised by the
Company Secretary that the current level of directors’ fees
is appropriate for a VCT, during the year under review, the
Board has not been provided with advice or services by any
other person in respect of its consideration of the Directors’
remuneration. The Directors expect, from time to time,
to review the fees paid to the boards of directors of other
venture capital trust companies.

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration
The Board’s policy is that the remuneration of the Directors,
all of whom are non-executive, should reflect the experience
of the Board as a whole, be fair and be comparable to that
of other venture capital trusts with a similar capital structure
and investment objectives. It is intended that this policy will
continue for the financial year ending 31 December 2008
and subsequent years.
The Company’s policy is for the Directors to be remunerated
in the form of fees, payable quarterly in arrears, to the
Director personally or to a third party specified by him.
The fees for the Directors are determined within the limits
set out in the Company’s Articles of Association, which
limit the aggregate of the fees payable to the Directors to
£150,000 a year. The Company’s policy is that fees payable
to the Directors should reflect the time spent by them on
the Company’s affairs and should be sufficient to enable
candidates of a high quality to be recruited. Non-executive
Directors do not receive bonuses, pension benefits, share
options, long-term incentive schemes or other benefits.
The present level of fees is £15,000 for the Chairman and
£12,000 for each Director per annum. The policy is to review
these rates from time to time. The fees shown on this page
relate to the year ended 31 December 2007.
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by
the Company in respect of the Directors. This insurance
^hcZ^i]ZgVWZcZ[^i^c`^cYcdgYdZh^i[dgbeVgid[i]Z
Directors’ remuneration.
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Directors’ service contracts
None of the Directors has a contract of service or contract
for services and a Director may resign by notice in writing
idi]Z7dVgYViVcni^bZ0i]ZgZVgZcdhZicdi^XZeZg^dYh#6aa
9^gZXidghVgZVeed^ciZY[dgVc^c^i^VaeZg^dYd[i]gZZnZVgh0
this period may be varied by either party. The Articles of
Association provide that, at the Annual General Meeting
each year, one third of the Directors for the time being
(or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to one third) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation. Directors, therefore, shall retire and be subject to
re-election at the first Annual General Meeting following
their appointment and, thereafter, shall be obliged to retire
by rotation and offer themselves for re-election, at least
every three years. Any Director who attains the age of 70 is
subject to annual re-election. No compensation is payable
for loss of office, save any arrears of fees which may be due.

Directors’ emoluments for the year (audited)
The Directors who served in the year ended 31 December
2007 received the following emoluments in the form of fees:

Chairman of the Board:
>98dgbVX`
Directors:
M J Gilbert
M Graham-Wood
A Lapping
S Scott

Year ended
31 December
2007

Year ended
31 December
2006

15,000

15,000

12,000
12,000
12,000
12,000
63,000

12,000
12,000
12,000
12,000
63,000

Mr Gilbert’s remuneration is paid to Aberdeen Asset
Management PLC. Mr Graham-Wood’s remuneration has
been paid to Noble & Co Limited since 1 January 2007.
No Director has received any taxable expenses,
compensation for loss of office or non-cash benefits for the
year ended 31 December 2007.

Ordinary Share Price Total Return Performance
(Re-based to 100 at 16 February 2005)
130
120
110
100
90
80

Value (rebased to 100 at 16 February 2005)
Dec 2005
FTSE AIM All-Share

Dec 2006

Share Price Total Return

Dec 2007
NAV Total Return

Source: Aberdeen Asset Management PLC/Factset.
Please note that past performance is not necessarily a guide
to future performance.

Company performance
The graph above compares the total return on an investment
of £100 in the Ordinary shares since 16 February 2005,
l]Zci]Zh]VgZh[^ghiigVYZYdci]ZAdcYdcHidX`:mX]Vc\Z!
with the total shareholder return over the same period on a
notional investment of £100 made up of shares of the same
`^cYhVcYcjbWZgVhi]dhZWngZ[ZgZcXZidl]^X]i]Z;IH:
AIM All-Share indices are calculated. This index was chosen
for comparison purposes, as it is the most relevant to the
Company’s investment portfolio.

Approval
The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 24 and 25 was
approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf
by:

I D Cormack
Director
17 April 2008
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Statement of Corporate Governance

This statement describes how the principles and supporting
principles identified in the Combined Code, published in
July 2006, have been applied by the Company throughout
the year ended 31 December 2007, except where disclosed
below.
The exceptions to compliance with the Combined Code,
which are explained more fully under the headings of “The
Board” and “Directors’ Remuneration” were as follows:
 VhZc^dg^cYZeZcYZciY^gZXidg]VhcdiWZZcVeed^ciZY
8dbW^cZY8dYZ6#(#(0
 i]Z8dbW^cZY8dYZgZXdbbZcYhi]Vii]Z6jY^i
Committee and Management Engagement Committee
should comprise independent non-executive directors.
For the reasons set out below, Mr M J Gilbert is
a member of the Nomination but not the Audit
Committee or Management Engagement Committee as
]Z^hcdigZ\VgYZYWni]Z7dVgYVh^cYZeZcYZci0VcY
 i]Z8]V^gbVcd[i]Z7dVgY^hi]Z8]V^gbVcd[ZVX]d[
the Board Committees (Combined Code B.2.1).

The Board
The Board currently consists of five non-executive directors
and one alternate director. All of the directors who held
office during the year, with the exception of Mr Gilbert
and his alternate, are considered to be independent of the
Manager. Mr Gilbert and his alternate are employees of the
Manager and as such are not considered independent.
Bg8dgbVX`lVh^cYZeZcYZcid[i]ZBVcV\ZgVii]Zi^bZ
of his appointment as a director and chairman in September
'%%)VcYXdci^cjZhidWZhd!Wnk^gijZd[]^haVX`d[
connection with the Manager and of cross-directorships with
his fellow directors.
The biographies of the directors appear on pages 18 and 19
of this annual report and indicate the range of the directors’
investment, commercial and professional experience.
The Board sets the Company’s values and objectives and
ensures that its obligations to its shareholders are met.
It has formally adopted a schedule of matters which are
required to be brought to it for decision, thus ensuring
that it maintains full and effective control over appropriate
strategic, financial, operational and compliance issues.
These matters include:
 i]ZbV^ciZcVcXZd[XaZVg^ckZhibZcidW_ZXi^kZhVcYg^h`
management policies
 i]Zbdc^idg^c\d[i]ZWjh^cZhhVXi^k^i^Zhd[i]Z8dbeVcn
 8dbeVc^Zh6XigZfj^gZbZcihhjX]Vhi]ZVeegdkVad[i]Z
interim and annual financial statements and approval
and recommendation of the interim and final dividends
 bV_dgX]Vc\ZhgZaVi^c\idi]Z8dbeVcn¼hhigjXijgZ!
^cXajY^c\h]VgZWjnWVX`hVcYh]VgZ^hhjZh
 WdVgYVeed^cibZcihVcYgZaViZYbViiZgh
 Veed^cibZciVcYgZbdkVad[i]ZBVcV\ZgVcYi]ZiZgbh
and conditions of the management and administration
agreements
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 iZgbhd[gZ[ZgZcXZVcYbZbWZgh]^ed[7dVgY
Committees
 HidX`:mX]Vc\Z!J@A^hi^c\6ji]dg^inVcY;^cVcX^Va
Services Authority matters, such as approval of all
circulars, listing particulars and releases concerning
matters decided by the Board.
I]ZgZ^hVcV\gZZYegdXZYjgZ[dgY^gZXidghidiV`Z
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expense. The directors have access to the advice
and services of the corporate Company Secretary through its
appointed representatives, who are responsible to the Board:
 [dgZchjg^c\i]Vi7dVgYegdXZYjgZhVgZXdbea^ZYl^i]
 jcYZgi]ZY^gZXi^dcd[i]ZX]V^gbVc![dgZchjg^c\\ddY
information flows with the Board and its committees
 [dgVYk^h^c\dcXdgedgViZ\dkZgcVcXZbViiZgh#
An induction meeting will be arranged by the Manager
on the appointment of any new director, covering details
about the Company, the Manager, legal responsibilities and
venture capital trust industry matters. Directors are provided
dcVgZ\jaVgWVh^hl^i]`Zn^c[dgbVi^dcdci]Z8dbeVcn¼h
policies, regulatory and statutory requirements and internal
controls. Changes affecting directors’ responsibilities are
advised to the Board as they arise.
The Chairman of the Company is a non-executive director.
A senior non-executive director has not been appointed,
as required by provision A3.3 of the Combined Code, as
the Board considers that each of the directors has different
qualities and areas of expertise on which they may lead.
Consequently no individual has unfettered powers of
decision. The Chairman is the chairman of each of the Board
8dbb^iiZZhVhi]Z7dVgYXdch^YZgh]Z]Vhi]Zh`^aahVcY
experience relevant to those roles.
During the year ended 31 December 2007 the Board held
four quarterly board meetings and three ad hoc meetings
to address specific matters. In addition, there were three
meetings of the Audit Committee and one each of the
Management Engagement Committee and Nomination
Committee. Between meetings the Board maintains contact
with the Manager. The primary focus of quarterly board
meetings is a review of investment performance and related
matters including asset allocation, peer group information
and industry issues.
Directors have attended Board and Committee meetings
during the year to 31 December 2007 as follows:

Director

>98dgbVX`
M J Gilbert*
M Graham- Wood
A Lapping
S Scott

Management
Engagement Nomination
Audit
Board
Committee Committee Committee meetings

1
0
1
1
1

1
1
1
1
1

2
0
2
2
2

*Mr Gilbert is not a member of the Audit Committee or the
Management Engagement Committee.

6
6
6
5
4

To enable the Board to function effectively and allow
Directors to discharge their responsibilities, full and timely
access is given to all relevant information. In the case of
Board meetings, this consists of a comprehensive set of
papers, including the Manager’s review and discussion
documents regarding specific matters. Directors have made
further enquiries where necessary.
I]Z7dVgYVcY8dbb^iiZZh]VkZjcYZgiV`Zci]Z^gVccjVa
performance evaluation, using questionnaires and discussion
to ensure that members have devoted sufficient time and
Xdcig^WjiZYVYZfjViZanidi]Zldg`d[i]Z7dVgYVcY^ih
Committees.

External agencies
The Board has contractually delegated to external agencies,
including the Manager and other service providers, certain
services: the management of the investment portfolio,
the custodial services (which include the safeguarding
of the assets), the registration services and day to day
accounting and company secretarial requirements. Each
of these contracts was entered into after full and proper
consideration by the Board of the quality and cost of
services offered. The Board receives and considers reports
from the Manager on a regular basis. In addition, ad hoc
reports and information are supplied to the Board as
requested.

Committees
Nomination Committee
A Nomination Committee has been established with
written terms of reference and comprises the full Board.
The Chairman of the Committee is the Chairman of the
Company. One meeting was held during the period ended
31 December 2007. At its meeting in February 2008, the
Nomination Committee recommended to the Board the
nominations for re-election of Mr Gilbert, Mr Lapping and Mr
Graham-Wood at the May 2008 Annual General Meeting.
I]Z8dbb^iiZZbV`ZhgZXdbbZcYVi^dchidi]Z7dVgYdc
the following matters:
 i]Z^YZci^[^XVi^dcVcYcdb^cVi^dcd[XVcY^YViZhid[^aa
Board vacancies as and when they arise for the approval
of the Board
 hjXXZhh^dceaVcc^c\
 i]ZgZ"Veed^cibZcid[Vcncdc"ZmZXji^kZ9^gZXidgVii]Z
conclusion of their specified term of office
 i]ZgZ"ZaZXi^dcWnH]VgZ]daYZghd[Vcn9^gZXidgjcYZg
the retirement by rotation provisions in the Company’s
Articles of Association
 i]ZXdci^cjVi^dc^cd[[^XZd[Vcn9^gZXidgViVcni^bZ
 i]ZVeed^cibZcid[Vcn9^gZXidgidVcdi]Zgd[[^XZ!hjX]
as Chairman of the Audit Committee, other than to the
position of Chairman.

Audit Committee
An Audit Committee has been established with written
terms of reference and comprising all of the independent
directors. The Chairman of the Company is the Chairman
of the Audit Committee. The Board is satisfied that the
members of the Audit Committee have recent and relevant
financial experience. One meeting was held during the
period. The terms of reference of the Committee, which are
available on request, are reviewed and re-assessed for their
adequacy at each meeting.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include:
 i]ZgZk^Zld[i]ZZ[[ZXi^kZcZhhd[i]Z^ciZgcVaXdcigda
environment of the Company including by receiving
reports from internal and external auditors on a regular
basis
 i]ZgZk^Zld[i]Z^ciZg^bVcYVccjVagZedgihVcY
financial statements
 i]ZgZk^Zld[i]ZiZgbhd[Veed^cibZcid[i]Z6jY^idgh
together with their remuneration as well as any nonaudit services provided by the Auditors
 i]ZgZk^Zld[i]ZhXdeZVcYgZhjaihd[i]ZVjY^iVcYi]Z
independence and objectivity of the Auditors
 i]ZgZk^Zld[i]ZVjY^idghbVcV\ZbZciaZiiZgVcYi]Z
management response
 bZZi^c\hl^i]gZegZhZciVi^kZhd[i]ZBVcV\Zg#
At each meeting, the Audit Committee examines the annual
or interim report and financial statements, reviews the
Company’s internal controls and reviews the scope of the
audit and the auditors’ management report to the Board.
Cdh^\c^[^XVcilZV`cZhhZh^ci]ZXdcigdaZck^gdcbZcilZgZ
identified.
A review of the auditors’ independence is conducted
annually. The Company has in place a policy for controlling
the provision of non-audit services by the Auditors, in order
to safeguard their independence and objectivity. Non-audit
ldg`l]^X]b^\]iXdbegdb^hZ^cYZeZcYZcXZ^hegd]^W^iZY#
Management Engagement Committee
A Management Engagement Committee has been
established comprising all of the independent Directors.
The Chairman of the Committee is the Chairman of the
Company. It annually reviews the management contract
with Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited, details of which are
shown on pages 21 and 22. The Committee met in February
2008 to consider the management contract.

Directors’ remuneration
Where a venture capital trust has only non-executive
Directors, the Combined Code principles relating to
Directors’ remuneration do not apply. The full Board
therefore carries out the functions of a remuneration
committee.
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Statement of Corporate Governance continued

The remuneration of the Directors has been set in order
to attract individuals of a calibre appropriate to the future
development of the Company. The Company’s policy
on Directors’ remuneration, together with details of the
remuneration of each Director, is detailed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 24 and 25.

Directors’ terms of appointment

The Company’s web pages are hosted on Aberdeen’s
website, and can be visited at www.agovct2.co.uk
[gdbl]ZgZVccjVaVcY^ciZg^bgZedgih!HidX`:mX]Vc\Z
announcements and other information can be viewed,
printed or downloaded. Access to further information about
the Manager can be gained from a visit to
www.aberdeen-asset.com/vct.

All non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial term
of three years, subject to re-election and Companies Act
provisions and, in accordance with the existing Articles of
Association, stand for election at the first Annual General
Meeting following their appointment. The Articles of
Association state that Directors must offer themselves for
re-election at least once every three years. Any Director
who reaches the age of 70 is subject to annual re-election.
In addition, Mr Gilbert is subject to annual re-election in
view of his position as chief executive of Aberdeen Asset
Management PLC, the parent company of the Manager.

Accountability and audit

Policy on tenure

Internal control

The Board’s policy on tenure is that Directors need not serve
on the Board for a limited period of time only. The Board
does not consider that the length of service of a Director is
Vh^bedgiVciVhi]ZXdcig^Wji^dc]Zdgh]Z]VhidbV`ZVcY
therefore the length of service will be determined on a case
by case basis.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Directors confirm that there is an ongoing process for
^YZci^[n^c\!ZkVajVi^c\VcYbVcV\^c\i]Zh^\c^[^XVcig^h`h
faced by the Company, which has been in place for the
full period under review and up to the date of approval of
the Financial Statements, and that this process is regularly
reviewed by the Board and accords with the Turnbull
guidance.

Communication with shareholders
The Company places a great deal of importance on
communication with its shareholders. As required under the
Combined Code, the Annual Report is posted to Shareholders
at least twenty business days before the Annual General
Meeting.
The Notice of Meeting sets out the business of the Annual
General Meeting and the resolutions are explained more
fully in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 24
and 25 and in the Directors’ Report on pages 20 to 23. A
separate resolution is proposed for each substantive issue.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend and participate in the
Annual General Meeting. Shareholders have the opportunity
to put questions at the meeting and the results of proxy
voting are relayed to them after each resolution has been
voted on by a show of hands.
Shareholders also have direct access to the Company via the
free shareholder information telephone service run by the
Manager, and the Company and the Manager respond to
letters from shareholders. In order to ensure that Directors
develop an understanding of the views of shareholders,
correspondence between the Manager or the Chairman
and shareholders is copied to the Board. It is in the nature
of a venture capital trust that there are generally no major
shareholders.
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The Directors’ Statement of Responsibilities in respect of the
Financial Statements is on page 30 and the Statement of
Going Concern is included in the Directors’ Report on page
23. The Board is satisfied that the members of the Audit
Committee have recent and relevant financial experience.
The Independent Auditors Report is on page 31. The auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP, rotate the partner responsible for the
Company’s audit every five years. Details of the amounts
paid to the Auditors during the year for audit and other
services are set out in note 4 to the Financial Statements.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of
internal control and, in particular, it has reviewed the process
[dg^YZci^[n^c\VcYZkVajVi^c\i]Zh^\c^[^XVcig^h`hV[[ZXi^c\
the Company and the policies and procedures by which
i]ZhZg^h`hVgZbVcV\ZY#
The Directors have delegated the investment management
of the Company’s assets to the Manager within overall
guidelines and this embraces implementation of the system
of internal control, including financial, operational and
Xdbea^VcXZXdcigdahVcYg^h`bVcV\ZbZci#>ciZgcVaXdcigda
systems are monitored and supported by the Internal
6jY^i[jcXi^dcd[i]ZBVcV\Zgl]^X]jcYZgiV`ZheZg^dY^X
examination of business processes, including compliance
with the terms of the management agreement, and ensures
that recommendations to improve controls are implemented.
G^h`hVgZ^YZci^[^ZYVcYYdXjbZciZYi]gdj\]Vg^h`
bVcV\ZbZci[gVbZldg`WnZVX][jcXi^dcl^i]^ci]Z
BVcV\Zg¼hVXi^k^i^Zh#G^h`^hXdch^YZgZY^ci]ZXdciZmid[i]Z
IjgcWjaa\j^YVcXZVcY^cXajYZh[^cVcX^Va!gZ\jaVidgn!bVg`Zi!
deZgVi^dcVaVcYgZejiVi^dcVag^h`#I]^hZcVWaZhi]Z^ciZgcVa
VjY^ig^h`VhhZhhbZcibdYZaid^YZci^[ni]dhZ[jcXi^dch
[dggZk^Zl#6cnlZV`cZhhZh^YZci^[^ZYVgZgZedgiZYidi]Z
Company and timetables are agreed for implementing
improvements to systems. The implementation of any
gZbZY^VaVXi^dcgZfj^gZY^hbdc^idgZYVcY[ZZYWVX`egdk^YZY
to the Board.

I]Z`ZnXdbedcZcihYZh^\cZYidegdk^YZZ[[ZXi^kZ^ciZgcVa
control for the period under review and up to the date of
this report are:
 i]ZBVcV\ZgegZeVgZh[dgZXVhihVcYbVcV\ZbZci
accounts which allow the Board to assess the Company’s
VXi^k^i^ZhVcYgZk^Zl^ih^ckZhibZcieZg[dgbVcXZ0
 i]Z7dVgYVcYBVcV\Zg]VkZV\gZZYXaZVganYZ[^cZY
investment criteria, specified levels of authority and
exposure limits. Reports on these issues, including
performance statistics and investment valuations,
are regularly submitted to the Board. The Manager’s
evaluation procedure and financial analysis of the
companies concerned include detailed appraisal and due
Y^a^\ZcXZ0
 VhVbViiZgd[XdjghZi]ZXdbea^VcXZYZeVgibZcid[i]Z
BVcV\ZgXdci^cjVaangZk^Zlhi]ZBVcV\Zg¼hdeZgVi^dch0
 lg^iiZcV\gZZbZcihVgZ^ceaVXZl]^X]heZX^[^XVaanYZ[^cZ
the roles and responsibilities of the Manager and other
i]^gYeVginhZgk^XZegdk^YZgh0VcY
 i]Z7dVgYXVgg^ZhdjiVcVccjVaVhhZhhbZcid[^ciZgcVa
controls by considering reports from the Manager,
including its internal audit and compliance functions and
iV`^c\VXXdjcid[ZkZcihh^cXZi]ZgZaZkVcieZg^dYZcY#
In addition, the Manager ensures that clearly documented
contractual arrangements exist in respect of any activities
that have been delegated to external professional
organisations.
The Internal Audit function of the Manager reports annually
to the Audit Committee of the Company and has direct
access to the Directors at any time.
The internal control systems are designed to meet the
8dbeVcn¼heVgi^XjaVgcZZYhVcYi]Zg^h`hidl]^X]^i^h
exposed. Accordingly, the internal control systems are
YZh^\cZYidbVcV\ZgVi]Zgi]VcZa^b^cViZi]Zg^h`d[[V^ajgZ
to achieve business goals and, by their nature, can provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Socially responsible investment policy
The Directors are aware of their duty to act in the interests
d[i]Z8dbeVcn#I]ZnVX`cdlaZY\Zi]Vii]ZgZVgZg^h`h
associated with investment in companies which fail to
conduct business in a socially responsible manner and they
i]ZgZ[dgZZchjgZi]Vii]ZniV`ZgZ\jaVgVXXdjcid[i]Z
social environment and ethical factors that might affect the
performance or value of the Company’s investments.

Exercise of voting powers
The Directors believe that the exercise of voting rights at
company meetings lies at the heart of the regulation and
promotion of corporate governance. The Board has therefore
given discretionary voting powers to the Manager, Aberdeen
Asset Managers Limited.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

 egZeVgZi]Z[^cVcX^VahiViZbZcihdci]Z\d^c\
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the company will continue in business.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements
^cVXXdgYVcXZl^i]Jc^iZY@^c\Ydb<ZcZgVaan6XXZeiZY
6XXdjci^c\EgVXi^XZJc^iZY@^c\Ydb6XXdjci^c\
Standards and applicable law). The financial statements
are required by law to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the company and of the net return
of the company for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the directors are required to:

I]ZY^gZXidghVgZgZhedch^WaZ[dg`ZZe^c\egdeZg
accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
VcY]ZcXZ[dgiV`^c\gZVhdcVWaZhiZeh[dgi]ZegZkZci^dc
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

 hZaZXihj^iVWaZVXXdjci^c\eda^X^ZhVcY
then apply them consistently
 bV`Z_jY\bZcihVcYZhi^bViZhi]Vi
are reasonable and prudent
 hiViZl]Zi]ZgVeea^XVWaZJ@6XXdjci^c\HiVcYVgYh
have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements
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The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
dci]ZXdbeVcn¼hlZWh^iZ#AZ\^haVi^dc^ci]ZJc^iZY@^c\Ydb
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of
Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC
We have audited the financial statements of Aberdeen
Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC for the year ended
31 December 2007 which comprise the Income Statement,
the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Movements in
Shareholders’ Funds, the Cash Flow Statement and the
related notes 1 to 18. These financial statements have
been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having
been audited.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as
a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies
6Xi&.-*#DjgVjY^ildg`]VhWZZcjcYZgiV`Zchdi]VilZ
might state to the company’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members as a body,
[dgdjgVjY^ildg`![dgi]^hgZedgi!dg[dgi]Zde^c^dchlZ
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United
@^c\Ydb6XXdjci^c\HiVcYVgYhJc^iZY@^c\Ydb<ZcZgVaan
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
gZfj^gZbZcihVcY>ciZgcVi^dcVaHiVcYVgYhdc6jY^i^c\J@
and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We
also report to you whether in our opinion the information
given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
financial statements. The information given in the Directors’
Report includes that specific information presented in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Investment Manager’s Review
that is cross referred from the Business Review section of the
Directors’ Report.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company
]Vhcdi`ZeiegdeZgVXXdjci^c\gZXdgYh!^[lZ]VkZcdi
received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not
disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the company’s compliance with the nine provisions
of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and
we report if it does not. We are not required to consider

whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all
g^h`hVcYXdcigdah!dg[dgbVcde^c^dcdci]ZZ[[ZXi^kZcZhhd[
i]ZXdbeVcn¼hXdgedgViZ\dkZgcVcXZegdXZYjgZhdg^ihg^h`
and control procedures.
We read the other information contained in the Annual
Report as described in the contents section and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. We consider the implications for our report
if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any further information
outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
HiVcYVgYhdc6jY^i^c\J@VcY>gZaVcY^hhjZYWni]Z
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
 i]Z[^cVcX^VahiViZbZcih\^kZVigjZVcY[V^gk^Zl!^c
VXXdgYVcXZl^i]Jc^iZY@^c\Ydb<ZcZgVaan6XXZeiZY
Accounting Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs
as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit for the year
i]ZcZcYZY0
 i]Z[^cVcX^VahiViZbZcihVcYi]ZeVgid[i]Z9^gZXidgh¼
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
egZeVgZY^cVXXdgYVcXZl^i]i]Z8dbeVc^Zh6Xi&.-*0
and
 i]Z^c[dgbVi^dc\^kZc^ci]Z9^gZXidgh¼GZedgi^h
consistent with the financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
<aVh\dl!Jc^iZY@^c\Ydb
17 April 2008
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Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Ordinary shares
Revenue
Capital
Total
Notes
£’000
£’000
£’000

(Losses)/gains on investments

8

Income from investments
Other income
Investment management fees
Other expenses
Profit/(loss) on ordinary
activities before taxation

2
2
3
4

Tax on ordinary activities
Profit/(loss) on ordinary
activities after taxation

5

Earnings per share (pence)

–

(120)

(120)

334
28
(37)
(155)

–
–
(148)
–

334
28
(185)
(155)

170

(268)

(29)

29

S Ordinary shares
Revenue
Capital
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

–

Revenue
£’000

Total
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

–

(51)

(51)

69

69

145
27
(14)
(64)

–
–
(56)
–

145
27
(70)
(64)

479
55
(51)
(219)

–
–
(204)
–

479
55
(255)
(219)

(98)

94

13

107

264

(255)

9

–

(17)

17

–

(46)

46

–

141

(239)

(98)

77

30

107

218

(209)

9

1.8

(3.1)

(1.3)

1.8

0.7

2.5

3.6

(2.4)

1.2

A Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has not been prepared, as all gains and losses are recognised in the Income
Statement.
All items in the above statement are derived from continuing operations. The Company has only one class of business and
YZg^kZh^ih^cXdbZ[gdb^ckZhibZcihbVYZ^ch]VgZh!hZXjg^i^ZhVcYWVc`YZedh^ih#
The total column of this statement is the Profit and Loss Account of the Company.

Reconciliation of movements in Shareholders’ Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Opening Shareholders’ funds
Movements in the year
Total (loss)/profit for year
Net proceeds of issue of shares
Dividends paid – revenue
Dividends paid – capital
Closing Shareholders’ funds

Ordinary Shares
£’000

S Ordinary Shares
£’000

Total
£’000

8,789

–

8,789

(98)
–
(39)
(431)

107
4,724
–
–

9
4,724
(39)
(431)

8,221

4,831

13,052

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2006

Notes

Gains on investments

8

Income from investments
Other income
Investment management fees
Other expenses
Profit on ordinary activities
before taxation

2
2
3
4

Tax on ordinary activities
Profit on ordinary activities
after taxation

5

Ordinary shares
Revenue
Capital
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

Earnings per share (pence)

–

1,304

S Ordinary shares
Revenue
Capital
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

1,304

–

–

–

Revenue
£’000

–

Total
Capital
£’000

1,304

Total
£’000

1,304

309
17
(21)
(213)

–
–
(84)
–

309
17
(105)
(213)

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

309
17
(21)
(213)

–
–
(84)
–

309
17
(105)
(213)

92

1,220

1,312

–

–

–

92

1,220

1,312

(14)

14

–

–

–

–

(14)

14

–

78

1,234

1,312

–

–

–

78

1,234

1,312

1.0

15.7

16.7

–

–

–

1.0

15.7

16.7

A Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has not been prepared, as all gains and losses are recognised in the Income
Statement.
All items in the above statement are derived from continuing operations. The Company has only one class of business and
YZg^kZh^ih^cXdbZ[gdb^ckZhibZcihbVYZ^ch]VgZh!hZXjg^i^ZhVcYWVc`YZedh^ih#
The total column of this Statement is the Profit and Loss Account of the Company.

Reconciliation of movements in Shareholders’ Funds
For the year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary Shares
£’000

S Ordinary Shares
£’000

Total
£’000

Opening Shareholders’ funds

7,634

–

7,634

Movements in the period
Total profit for year
Dividends paid – capital

1,312
(157)

–
–

1,312
(157)

Closing Shareholders’ funds

8,789

–

8,789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2007

Notes

Fixed assets
Investments at fair value through profit
or loss
Current assets
Debtors
Cash and overnight deposits
Creditors: amounts falling due within
one year
Net current assets
Total net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Distributable reserve
Capital reserves – realised
Capital reserves – unrealised
Revenue reserve
Net assets attributable to Ordinary
Shareholders
Net asset value per ordinary share (pence)

31 December 2007
Ordinary
S Ordinary
shares
shares
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

31 December 2006
Ordinary
S Ordinary
shares
shares
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

8

7,714

4,494

12,208

8,109

–

8,109

10

152
444
596

72
307
379

224
751
975

263
503
766

–
–
–

263
503
766

11

(89)
507
8,221

(42)
(131)
337
844
4,831 13,052

(86)
680
8,789

–
–
–

(86)
680
8,789

12
13
13
13
13
13

784
–
6,660
965
(388)
200
8,221

497
1,281
4,227
4,227
–
6,660
(32)
933
62
(326)
77
277
4,831 13,052

784
–
6,660
1,121
126
98
8,789

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

784
–
6,660
1,121
126
98
8,789

14

104.9

112.2

–

97.2

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its
behalf by:

17 April 2008

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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I D Cormack
Chairman

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2007

Notes

Operating activities
Investment income received
Deposit interest received
Investment management fees paid
Secretarial fees paid
Cash paid to and on behalf of Directors
Other cash payments
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities

15

Taxation
Corporation tax
Financial investment
Purchase of investments
Sale of investments
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financial
investment

Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary
S Ordinary
shares
shares
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary
S Ordinary
shares
shares
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

297
36
(183)
(48)
(39)
(63)

56
25
(51)
(13)
(12)
(18)

353
61
(234)
(61)
(51)
(81)

245
15
(81)
(61)
(93)
(93)

–
–
–
–
–
–

245
15
(81)
(61)
(93)
(93)

–

(13)

(13)

(68)

–

(68)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4,459) (10,866)
55
6,873

(3,288)
3,615

–
–

(3,288)
3,615

(6,407)
6,818
411

(4,404)

(3,993)

327

–

327

(470)

–

(470)

(157)

–

(157)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before
financing

(59)

(4,417)

(4,476)

102

–

102

Financing
Issue of ordinary shares
Expense of share issue
Net cash inflow from financing
(Decrease)/increase in cash

–
–
–
(59)

4,972
(248)
4,724
307

4,972
(248)
4,724
248

–
–
–
102

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
102

Equity dividends paid

16

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2007

1 Accounting Policies - UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(a) Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation
of investments, and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment
Trust Companies’ (the SORP) issued in 2005.
(b) Income
Dividends receivable on equity shares and unit trusts are treated as revenue for the period on an ex-dividend basis.
Where no ex-dividend date is available dividends receivable on or before the year end are treated as revenue for the
period. Provision is made for any dividends not expected to be received. The fixed returns on debt securities and nonequity shares are recognised on a time apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective interest rate on the debt
securities and shares. Provision is made for any fixed income not expected to be received. Interest receivable from
cash and short term deposits and interest payable are accrued to the end of the year.
(c) Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis and charged to the income statement. Expenses are charged
through the revenue account except as follows:
-

-

expenses which are incidental to the acquisition and disposal of an investment are charged to capital.
expenses are charged to realised capital reserves where a connection with the maintenance or enhancement of
the value of the investments can be demonstrated. In this respect the investment management fee has been
allocated 20% to revenue and 80% to realised capital reserves to reflect the Company’s investment policy and
prospective income and capital growth.
share issue costs are charged to the share premium account.
expenses are allocated between the Original pool or the S Share pool depending on the nature of the expense.

(d) Taxation
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or right to
pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. This is subject to deferred tax assets only being
gZXd\c^hZY^[^i^hXdch^YZgZYbdgZa^`Zani]Vccdii]Vii]ZgZl^aaWZhj^iVWaZegd[^ih[gdbl]^X]i]Z[jijgZgZkZghVad[
the underlying timing differences can be deducted. Timing differences are differences arising between the Company’s
taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements which are capable of reversal in one or more
subsequent periods.
Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.
The tax effect of different items of income/gain and expenditure/loss is allocated between capital reserves and
revenue account on the same basis as the particular item to which it relates using the Company’s effective rate of tax
for the period.
(e) Investments
In valuing unlisted investments the Directors follow the criteria set out below. These procedures comply with the
revised International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines for the valuation of private equity
and venture capital investments. Investments are recognised at their trade date and are valued at fair value, which
gZegZhZcii]Z9^gZXidgh¼k^Zld[i]ZVbdjci[dgl]^X]VcVhhZiXdjaYWZZmX]Vc\ZYWZilZZc`cdlaZY\ZVWaZl^aa^c\
parties in an arm’s length transaction. This does not assume that the underlying business is saleable at the reporting
date or that its current shareholders have an intention to sell their holding in the near future.
A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled
or expires.
1. For Investments completed within the 12 months prior to the reporting date and those at an early stage in their
development, fair value is determined using the Price of Recent Investment Method, except that adjustments
are made when there has been a material change in the trading circumstances of the company or a substantial
bdkZbZci^ci]ZgZaZkVcihZXidgd[i]ZhidX`bVg`Zi#
2. Whenever practical, recent investments will be valued by reference to a material arm’s length transaction or a
quoted price.
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3. Mature companies are valued by applying a multiple to their fully taxed prospective earnings to determine the
enterprise value of the company.
3.1 To obtain a valuation of the total ordinary share capital held by management and the institutional investors,
i]ZkVajZd[i]^gYeVginYZWi!^chi^iji^dcVaadVchidX`!YZWZcijgZhVcYegZ[ZgZcXZh]VgZXVe^iVa^hYZYjXiZY
[gdbi]ZZciZgeg^hZkVajZ#I]ZZ[[ZXid[VcneZg[dgbVcXZgZaViZYbZX]Vc^hbh^hiV`Zc^cidVXXdjcil]Zc
determining the value of the ordinary share capital.
(#'EgZ[ZgZcXZh]VgZh!YZWZcijgZhVcYadVchidX`VgZkVajZYjh^c\i]ZEg^XZd[GZXZci>ckZhibZciBZi]dY#L]Zc
a redemption premium has accrued, this will only be valued if there is a reasonable prospect of it being paid.
Preference shares which carry a right to convert into ordinary share capital are valued at the higher of the
Price of Recent Investment Method basis and the price/earnings basis, both described above.
)# L]ZgZi]ZgZ^hZk^YZcXZd[^beV^gbZci!Vegdk^h^dcbVnWZiV`ZcV\V^chii]ZegZk^djhkVajVi^dcd[i]Z
investment.
5. In the absence of evidence of a deterioration, or strong defensible evidence of an increase in value, the fair value is
determined to be that reported at the previous balance sheet date.
6. All unlisted investments are valued individually by Aberdeen Private Equity’s Portfolio Management Team. The
resultant valuations are subject to detailed scrutiny and approval by the Directors of the Company.
,# >cVXXdgYVcXZl^i]cdgbVabVg`ZiegVXi^XZ!^ckZhibZciha^hiZYdci]Z6aiZgcVi^kZ>ckZhibZciBVg`ZidgV
gZXd\c^hZYhidX`ZmX]Vc\ZVgZkVajZYVii]Z^gW^YbVg`Zieg^XZ#
(f) Gains and losses on investments
When the Company revalues its investments during the year, any gains or losses arising are credited/charged to the
income statement.
Year ended 31 December 2007

2 Income
Income from investments:
J@Y^k^YZcYh
J@jc[gVc`ZY^ckZhibZci^cXdbZ
Other income:
Deposit interest
Total income
Total income comprises:
Dividends
Interest

Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary
shares
£’000

S Ordinary
shares
£’000

Total
£’000

Ordinary
shares
£’000

15
319
334

1
144
145

16
463
479

16
293
309

28
362

27
172

55
534

17
326

41
321
362

1
171
172

42
492
534

95
231
326

Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary Shares

3 Investment management fees
Investment management fees
Less: Fees already charged through
Unit Trusts
Net investment management fees charged
Irrecoverable VAT

S Ordinary Shares

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

33

131

164

12

48

60

45

179

224

(1)
32
5
37

(5)
126
22
148

(6)
158
27
185

–
12
2
14

–
48
8
56

–
60
10
70

(1)
44
7
51

(5)
174
30
204

(6)
218
37
255
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary Shares
Revenue Capital Total
£’000
£’000 £’000

3 Investment management fees (continued)
Investment management fees
Less: Fees already charged through
Unit Trusts
Net investment management fees charged
Irrecoverable VAT

21

82

103

(3)
18
3
21

(10)
72
12
84

(13)
90
15
105

Details of the fee basis are contained in the Director’s Report on page 22.

4 Other expenses
Secretarial fees
Directors’ remuneration
Audit remuneration - audit services
- tax services
Irrecoverable VAT
Miscellaneous expenses

Ordinary Shares
Revenue Capital
Total
£’000
£’000 £’000

46
46
7
2
16
38
155

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

46
46
7
2
16
38
155

Year ended 31 December 2007
S Ordinary Shares
Revenue Capital
Total Revenue
£’000
£’000 £’000
£’000

18
17
4
1
6
18
64

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

18
17
4
1
6
18
64

Total
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

64
63
11
3
22
56
219

64
63
11
3
22
56
219

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary Shares
Revenue Capital
Total
£’000
£’000 £’000

Secretarial fees
Directors’ remuneration
Audit remuneration - audit services
- tax services
Irrecoverable VAT
Miscellaneous expenses

61
63
14
4
23
48
213

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

61
63
14
4
23
48
213

Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary Shares

5 Tax on ordinary activities
Corporation tax
Charge for year

S Ordinary Shares

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

Revenue

Capital

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(29)
(29)

29
29

–
–

(17)
(17)

17
17

–
–

(46)
(46)

46
46

–
–

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary Shares

Corporation tax
Charge for year
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Revenue

Capital

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

(14)
(14)

14
14

–
–

The tax assessed for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax (30 per cent). The differences are
explained below:
Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary
S Ordinary
Shares
shares
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

Return on ordinary activities before tax
Revenue return on ordinary activities multiplied by
standard rate of corporation tax
:[[ZXid[J@^cXdbZcdihjW_ZXiidiVmVi^dc
Smaller Companies relief

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary
Shares
£’000

170

94

264

92

51
(5)
(17)
29

28
(1)
(10)
17

79
(6)
(27)
46

28
(5)
(9)
14

The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset of £nil (2006 £2,523) arising as a result of having unutilised
management expenses.

Year ended 31 December 2007

6 Dividends
Revenue dividends
Interim revenue dividend for the year ended
31 December 2006 of 0.5p (2006: Nil) paid on
4 May 2007

Capital dividends
2nd Interim capital dividend for the year ended
31 December 2006 of 3.5p (2006:Nil) paid on
19 January 2007
Interim capital dividend for the year ended
31 December 2007 of 2.0p (2006: 2.0p) paid on
24 October 2007

Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary
Shares
£’000

S Ordinary
shares
£’000

Total
£’000

Ordinary
Shares
£’000

39
39

–
–

39
39

–
–

274

–

274

–

157
431

–
–

157
431

157
157

We set out below the total revenue dividends paid and proposed in respect of the financial year, which is the basis on
which the requirements of Section 842AA of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are considered.
Revenue dividends
Revenue available for distribution by way of
dividends for the year

141

77

218

78

Final revenue dividend proposed for the year
ended 31 December 2007 of 1.5p (2006 - 0.5p)
payable on 20 May 2008

118

–

118

39

–

62

62

–

Final revenue dividend proposed for the year
ended 31 December 2007 of 1.25p (2006 - N/A)
payable on 20 May 2008
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Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary
Shares

7 Return per ordinary share
The returns per share have been based on the
following figures:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Revenue return
Capital return
Total return

7,835,163
£141,000
£(239,000)
£(98,000)

S Ordinary
shares

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary
Shares

Total

4,343,413 12,178,576
£77,000
£218,000
£30,000 £(209,000)
£107,000
£9,000

7,835,163
£78,000
£1,234,000
£1,312,000

Year ended 31 December 2007
Ordinary Shares

8 Investments
Movements during
the year:
Valuation at
1 January 2007
Unrealised gain/
(loss)
Cost at beginning
of year

S Ordinary Shares

Listed
£’000

Unit
Trusts
£’000

Unlisted
& AIM
£’000

Total
£’000

2,983

1,040

4,086

8,109

–

2

(34)

(94)

(126)

2,985

1,006

3,992

7,983

Purchases
1,980
–
Sales proceeds
(4,379) (1,024)
Realised gains
2
18
Amortisation of
Wdd`Xdhi
–
–
Cost at
31 December 2007
588
–
Unrealised gain/
(loss)
9
–
Valuation at
31 December 2007 597
–

Unlisted
& AIM
£’000

Total
£’000

Listed
£’000

Unit
Trusts
£’000

Unlisted
& AIM
£’000

Total
£’000

–

–

–

2,983

1,040

4,086

8,109

–

–

–

–

2

(34)

(94)

(126)

–

–

–

–

2,985

1,006

3,992

7,983

4,563 6,543 2,952
(1,415) (6,818)
–
374
394
–

–
–
–

–
7,514
(397)

–

Unit
Listed Trusts
£’000 £’000

Total

21

–

8,102 2,973

–

(388)

19

–

7,117 7,714 2,992

–

1,507 4,459 4,932
–
(55) (55) (4,379) (1,024)
7
7
2
18
–

21

21

–

1,459 4,432

3,561

–

28

–

1,502 4,494 3,589

–

43

62

6,070 11,002
(1,470) (6,873)
381
401
–

21

8,973 12,534
(354)

(326)

8,619 12,208

Year ended 31 December 2006
Ordinary Shares
Unit Unlisted
Listed Trusts
& AIM
Total
£’000 £’000
£’000
£’000

Movements during the year:
Valuation at 1 January 2006
Unrealised gain/(loss)
Cost at beginning of year

2,118 1,020
–
(14)
2,118 1,006

Purchases
Sales proceeds
Realised gains
6bdgi^hVi^dcd[Wdd`Xdhi
Cost at 31 December 2006
Unrealised (loss/gain)
Valuation at 31 December 2006

1,483
–
(615)
–
–
–
(1)
–
2,985 1,006
(2)
34
2,983 1,040
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4,131 7,269
(177) (191)
3,954 7,078
1,669
(3,000)
1,369
–
3,992
94
4,086

3,152
(3,615)
1,369
(1)
7,983
126
8,109

Year ended 31 December 2007

The portfolio valuation
Held at market valuation:
Listed Fixed Income
J@6ji]dg^hZYJc^iigjhih
AIM quoted equities
Unlisted at Directors' valuation:
Unquoted equities
Unquoted fixed income
Total
Realised gains on historical basis
Net movement in unrealised
appreciation/(depreciation)

Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary
Shares

S Ordinary
shares

Total

Ordinary
Shares

597
–
3,083
3,680

2,992
–
450
3,442

3,589
–
3,533
7,122

2,983
1,040
2,369
6,392

1,061
2,973
4,034
7,714

236
816
1,052
4,494

1,297
3,789
5,086
12,208

734
983
1,717
8,109

394

7

401

1,369

(514)
(120)

62
69

(452)
(51)

(65)
1,304

9 Participating and significant interests
The principal activity of the Company is to select and hold a portfolio of investments in unlisted and AIM securities.
Although the Company l^aa!^chdbZXVhZh!WZgZegZhZciZYdci]ZWdVgYd[i]Z^ckZhiZZXdbeVcn!^il^aacdiiV`ZV
controlling interest or become involved in its management. The size and structure of the companies with unlisted and
AIM securities may result in certain holdings in the portfolio representing a participating interest without there being any
partnership, joint venture or management consortium agreement.
At 31 December 2007, the Company held no shares amounting to 20% or more of the equity capital of any of the
jca^hiZYdg6>BjcYZgiV`^c\h#I]Z8dbeVcnYdZh]daYh]VgZhdgjc^ihVbdjci^c\idbdgZi]Vc(dgbdgZd[i]Z
nominal value of the allotted shares or units of any class in certain investee companies.
Details of equity percentages held are shown in the Investment Portfolio Summary on pages 12 to 15.

31 December 2007

10 Debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

31 December 2006

Ordinary
shares

S Ordinary
shares

Total

Total

152
–
152

72
–
72

224
–
224

127
136
263

31 December 2007

11 Creditors
Accruals

31 December 2006

Ordinary
shares
£’000

S Ordinary
shares
£’000

Total
£’000

Total
£’000

89
89

42
42

131
131

86
86
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31 December 2007
Ordinary shares
Number
12 Share capital
At 31 December the authorised
share capital comprised:
allotted, issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of 10p each
7,835,163
Balance brought forward
7,835,163
Issued during the period
–
Unissued:
S Ordinary shares of 10p each
–
Unissued:
unclassified shares of 10p each 52,164,837
60,000,000

31 December 2006

S Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

S Ordinary shares

£’000

Number

£’000

Number

£’000

Number

£’000

784
784
–

–

–

–

497

784
784
–

–

4,972,459

7,835,163
7,835,163
–

–

–

–

25,027,541

2,503

–

–

30,000,000

3,000

5,216
–
6,000 30,000,000

–
3,000

5,216
–
6,000 30,000,000

13 Reserves
Ordinary Shares
At 1 January 2007
Gains on sales of investments
Decrease in unrealised appreciation
Investment management fees
Dividends paid
Tax effect of capital items
Retained net revenue for period
At 31 December 2007
S Ordinary Shares
At 1 January 2007
Issue of shares
Expense of share issue
Gains on sales of investments
Decrease in unrealised appreciation
Investment management fees
Tax effect of capital items
Retained net revenue for period
At 31 December 2007

– 52,164,837
3,000 60,000,000

Share
premium
account
£’000

Distributable
reserve
£’000

Capital
reserve
realised
£000

Capital
reserve
unrealised
£’000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

6,660
–
–
–
–
–
–
6,660

1,121
394
–
(148)
(431)
29
–
965

126
–
(514)
–
–
–
–
(388)

–
4,475
(248)
–
–
–
–
–
4,227

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
7
–
(56)
17
–
(32)

–
–
–
–
62
–
–
–
62

Revenue
reserve
£’000

98
–
–
–
(39)
–
141
200
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
77
77

14 Net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per share and the net asset value attributable to the ordinary shares at the period end calculated in
accordance with the Articles of Association were as follows:
31 December 2007
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

S Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Net asset
value per
share
p

Net asset
value
attributable
£’000

Net asset
value per
share
p

Net asset
value
attributable
£’000

Net asset
value per
share
p

Net asset
value
attributable
£’000

104.9

8,221

97.2

4,831

112.2

8,789

The number of issued shares used in the above calculation is set out in note 12.
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31 December 2006

15 Reconciliation of revenue return before finance costs
and taxation to net cash inflow from operating activities
Net return before taxation
Losses/(gains) on investments
Increase in accrued income
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due from manager
Increase/(decrease) in accruals
6bdgi^hVi^dcd[[^mZY^cXdbZ^ckZhibZciWdd`Xdhi
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

16 Analysis of changes in net funds

Cash and overnight deposits

Year ended
31 December 2007
Ordinary
S Ordinary
Shares
shares
£’000
£’000

Year ended
31 December 2006
Ordinary
shares
£’000

(98)
120
(29)
4
–
3
–
–

107
(69)
(70)
(2)
–
42
(21)
(13)

At
1 January
2007
£’000

Cash
flows
£’000

At
31 December
2007
£’000

–

307

307

Ordinary Shares

1,312
(1,304)
(67)
(3)
5
(12)
1
(68)

S Ordinary Shares

At
1 January
2007
£’000

Cash
flows
£’000

At
31 December
2007
£’000

503

(59)

444

Ordinary Shares

Cash and overnight deposits

At
1 January
2006
£’000

Cash flows
£’000

At
31 December
2006
£’000

401

102

503

17 Capital commitments

Conditional capital commitments on unlisted investments

At 31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006

Ordinary
Shares
£’000

S Ordinary
shares
£’000

Ordinary
shares
£’000

249

132

136

18 Derivatives and other financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments comprise securities and other investments, cash balances and debtors and creditors
that arise directly from its operations, for example, in respect of sales and purchases awaiting settlement, and debtors
for accrued income. The Company may not enter into derivative transactions in the form of forward foreign currency
contracts, futures and options without the written permission of the Directors. No derivative transactions were entered
into during the period.


I]ZbV^cg^h`hi]Z8dbeVcn[VXZh[gdb^ih[^cVcX^Va^chigjbZcihVgZ^bVg`Zieg^XZg^h`!WZ^c\i]Zg^h`i]Vii]ZkVajZd[
^ckZhibZci]daY^c\hl^aa[ajXijViZVhVgZhjaid[X]Vc\Zh^cbVg`Zieg^XZhXVjhZYWn[VXidghdi]Zgi]Vc^ciZgZhigViZh!^^
^ciZgZhigViZg^h`!VcY^^^a^fj^Y^ing^h`#>ca^cZl^i]i]Z8dbeVcn¼h^ckZhibZcidW_ZXi^kZ!i]Zedgi[da^dXdbeg^hZhdcan
hiZga^c\XjggZcXnhZXjg^i^ZhVcYi]ZgZ[dgZ]VhcdY^gZXiZmedhjgZid[dgZ^\cXjggZcXng^h`#



I]ZBVcV\Zg¼heda^X^Zh[dgbVcV\^c\i]ZhZg^h`hVgZhjbbVg^hZYWZadlVcY]VkZWZZcVeea^ZYi]gdj\]djii]ZeZg^dY#I]Z
numerical disclosures below exclude short-term debtors and creditors, which are included in the balance sheet at fair value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued





Market price risk
I]Z8dbeVcn¼h^ckZhibZciedgi[da^d^hZmedhZYidbVg`Zieg^XZ[ajXijVi^dch!l]^X]VgZbdc^idgZYWni]ZbVcV\Zg^c
pursuance of the investment objective as set out on page 20. Adherence to investment guidelines and to investment
VcYWdggdl^c\eda^X^ZhhZidji^ci]ZbVcV\ZbZciV\gZZbZcib^i^\ViZhi]Zg^h`d[ZmXZhh^kZZmedhjgZidVcneVgi^XjaVg
type of security or issuer. These powers and guidelines include the requirement to invest in a minimum of 30 companies
across a range of industrial and service sectors at varying stages of development, to closely monitor the progress of these
companies and to appoint a non executive director to the board of each company. Further information on the investment
portfolio (including sector concentration and deal type analysis) is set out in the Analysis of Unlisted and AIM Portfolio,
Investment Manager’s Review, Summary of Investment Changes, Investment Portfolio Summary and Largest Unlisted and
AIM Investments on pages 5 to 17.
Interest rate risk
I]Z^ciZgZhigViZg^h`egd[^aZd[[^cVcX^VaVhhZihVii]ZWVaVcXZh]ZZiYViZlVhVh[daadlh/
Ordinary Shares
At 31 December 2007
Sterling
Listed Fixed Income
Unlisted and AIM
Cash

Fixed Interest

Floating rate

Non interest bearing

£’000

£’000

£’000

597
2,973
–
3,570

–
–
444
444

–
4,144
–
4,144

Ordinary Shares
At 31 December 2006
Sterling
Listed Fixed Income
J@6ji]dg^hZYJc^iigjhih
Unlisted and AIM
Cash

Fixed Interest

Floating rate

Non interest bearing

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,483
–
982
–
2,465

1,500
–
–
503
2,003

–
1,040
3,104
–
4,144

The listed fixed interest assets have a weighted average life of 1.2 years (2006: 1.2 years) and weighted average interest
rate of 5.7% (2006: 5.0%).
The unlisted fixed interest assets have a weighted average life of 4.6 years (2006: 5.3 years) and weighted average
interest rate of 10.1% (2006: 11.5%). The non-interest bearing assets represents the equity and unit trust element of the
portfolio. All assets and liabilities of the fund are included in the balance sheet at fair value.


>i^hi]Z9^gZXidgh¼de^c^dci]Vii]ZXVggn^c\Vbdjcihd[i]ZhZ[^cVcX^VaVhhZihgZegZhZcii]ZbVm^bjbXgZY^ig^h`ZmedhjgZ
at the balance sheet date.



I]Z^ciZgZhigViZl]^X]YZiZgb^cZhi]Z^ciZgZhigZXZ^kZYdcXVh]WVaVcXZh^hi]ZWVc`WVhZgViZ#
S Ordinary Shares
At 31 December 2007
Sterling
Listed Fixed Income
Unlisted and AIM
Cash

Fixed Interest

Floating rate

Non interest bearing

£’000

£’000

£’000

2,992
816
–
3,808

–
–
307
307

–
686
–
686

The listed fixed interest assets have a weighted average life of 0.7 years (2006: n/a) and weighted average interest rate of
5.6% (2006: n/a).
The unlisted fixed interest assets have a weighted average life of 4.9 years (2006: n/a) and weighted average interest rate
of 9.7% (2006: n/a). The non-interest bearing assets represents the equity and unit trust element of the portfolio. All
assets and liabilities of the fund are included in the balance sheet at fair value.


>i^hi]Z9^gZXidgh¼de^c^dci]Vii]ZXVggn^c\Vbdjcihd[i]ZhZ[^cVcX^VaVhhZihgZegZhZcii]ZbVm^bjbXgZY^ig^h`ZmedhjgZ
at the balance sheet date.



I]Z^ciZgZhigViZl]^X]YZiZgb^cZhi]Z^ciZgZhigZXZ^kZYdcXVh]WVaVcXZh^hi]ZWVc`WVhZgViZ#
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Liquidity risk
Due to their nature, unlisted investments may not be readily realisable and therefore a portfolio of listed assets and cash is
]ZaYidd[[hZii]^ha^fj^Y^ing^h`#


8gZY^ig^h`VcY^ciZgZhigViZg^h`VgZb^c^b^hZYWnVXfj^g^c\]^\]fjVa^in\dkZgcbZciigZVhjgnhidX`hdgdi]ZgWdcYhl]^X]
have a relatively short time to maturity (see Investment Portfolio Summary on page 15).



I]ZXdbeVcn!\ZcZgVaan!YdZhcdi]daYh^\c^[^XVciXVh]WVaVcXZhVcYVcnXVh]]ZaY^hl^i]gZejiVWaZWVc`hl^i]]^\]
quality external credit ratings.



Price risk sensitivity
I]Z[daadl^c\YZiV^ahi]Z8dbeVcn¼hhZch^i^k^inidV&%^cXgZVhZVcYYZXgZVhZ^ci]ZbVg`Zieg^XZh!l^i]&%WZ^c\
bVcV\ZbZci¼hVhhZhhbZcid[VgZVhdcVWanedhh^WaZX]Vc\Z^cbVg`Zieg^XZh#



6i(&9ZXZbWZg'%%,!^[bVg`Zieg^XZh]VYWZZc&%]^\]Zgl^i]Vaadi]ZgkVg^VWaZh]ZaYXdchiVci!i]Z^cXgZVhZ^ccZi
assets attributable to Ordinary shareholders for the year would have been £368,000 (2006: £639,000). This is due to the
increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.



6i(&9ZXZbWZg'%%,!^[bVg`Zieg^XZh]VYWZZc&%]^\]Zgl^i]Vaadi]ZgkVg^VWaZh]ZaYXdchiVci!i]Z^cXgZVhZ^ccZi
assets attributable to S Ordinary shareholders for the year would have been £344,000 (2006: N/A). This is due to the
increase in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.



6i(&9ZXZbWZg'%%,!^[bVg`Zieg^XZh]VYWZZc&%adlZgl^i]Vaadi]ZgkVg^VWaZh]ZaYXdchiVci!i]ZYZXgZVhZ^ccZi
assets attributable to Ordinary shareholders for the year would have been £368,000 (2006: £639,000). This is due to the
decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.



6i(&9ZXZbWZg'%%,!^[bVg`Zieg^XZh]VYWZZc&%adlZgl^i]Vaadi]ZgkVg^VWaZh]ZaYXdchiVci!i]ZYZXgZVhZ^ccZi
assets attributable to S Ordinary shareholders for the year would have been £344,000 (2006: N/A). This is due to the
decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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Venture Capital Trusts

Venture Capital Trusts (VCTs) are companies broadly similar
to investment trusts and need to have been approved by the
HM Revenue & Customs. The conditions for approval are:
 6K8I¼h^cXdbZbjhiWZYZg^kZYl]daandgbV^can[gdb
h]VgZhdghZXjg^i^Zh0
 Cd]daY^c\^cVcnXdbeVcnXVcgZegZhZcibdgZi]Vc
&*WnkVajZd[VK8I¼h^ckZhibZcih0
 I]Zh]VgZhbV`^c\jeVK8I¼hdgY^cVgnh]VgZXVe^iVa
bjhiWZigVYZYdci]ZAdcYdcHidX`:mX]Vc\ZVcYa^hiZY
dci]ZD[[^X^VaA^hid[i]ZJ@A^hi^c\6ji]dg^in0
 6K8IbjhicdigZiV^cbdgZi]Vc&*d[^ih^cXdbZ
YZg^kZY[gdbh]VgZhdghZXjg^i^Zh0
Within the accounting period beginning not more than
three years after application, the following requirements
must be met:
 6iaZVhi,%WnkVajZd[VK8I¼h^ckZhibZcihbjhiWZ
in shares, or loans of at least five years, in “qualifying
]daY^c\hº0VcY
 6iaZVhi(%WnkVajZd[VK8I¼hfjVa^[n^c\]daY^c\h
must be in ordinary shares.

FjVa^[n^c\]daY^c\h
FjVa^[n^c\]daY^c\hVgZYZ[^cZYVh]daY^c\hd[h]VgZhdg
securities (including loans of terms of at least five years’
duration) in unquoted companies (including companies
whose shares are traded on the Alternative Investment
BVg`Zil]^X]Zm^hil]daan[dgi]ZejgedhZd[XVggn^c\dc
one or more qualifying trades wholly or mainly in the United
@^c\Ydb#I]Z]daY^c\bjhiXdch^hid[h]VgZhdghZXjg^i^Zh
which were first issued to and have been ever since
continuously held by the VCT.
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A qualifying trade is any other than:
 YZVa^c\^caVcY!XdbbdY^i^Zh![jijgZh!h]VgZhdgdi]Zg
[^cVcX^Va^chigjbZcih0
 YZVa^c\^c\ddYhdi]Zgi]Vc^ci]ZXdjghZd[VcdgY^cVgn
igVYZd[l]daZhVaZdggZiV^aY^hig^Wji^dc0
 WVc`^c\!^chjgVcXZdgdi]Zg[^cVcX^VaVXi^k^i^Zh0
 aZVh^c\dggZXZ^k^c\gdnVai^Zhdga^XZchZ[ZZhl^i]XZgiV^c
ZmXZei^dch0
 egdk^Y^c\aZ\VadgVXXdjciVcXnhZgk^XZh0
 egdeZginYZkZadebZci0
 [Vgb^c\dgbVg`Zi\VgYZc^c\0
 ]daY^c\!bVcV\^c\dgdXXjen^c\lddYaVcYh!Vcndi]Zg
[dgZhignVXi^k^i^Zhdgi^bWZgegdYjXi^dc0
 deZgVi^c\dgbVcV\^c\]diZahdgXdbeVgVWaZ
establishments, or managing property used as an hotel or
XdbeVgVWaZZhiVWa^h]bZci0
 deZgVi^c\dgbVcV\^c\cjgh^c\]dbZhdggZh^YZci^VaXVgZ
homes, or managing property used as a nursing home or
gZh^YZci^VaXVgZ]dbZ0VcY
 egdk^Y^c\VcX^aaVgnhZgk^XZhidVcnd[i]ZVWdkZWnV
related party.
VCTs may count an investment of up to £1 million in
total in a qualifying trading company in any one year
towards the 70% qualifying trading company requirement,
provided that the gross assets of the company do not exceed
£15 million prior to the investment or £16 million following
the investment. For VCTs raised after 5 April 2006 these
limits are reduced to £7 million before investment and
£8 million after investment.
For funds raised after 5 April 2007, for an investment to
qualify for VCT purposes, it must have no more than 50
full-time employees at the date of the issue of securities and
no more than £2 million may be invested by venture capital
schemes in the 12 month period up to and including the
date of investment.

Tax Position of Individual Investors

This section highlights the tax reliefs available to individual
investors and the methods for claiming such tax reliefs.

IVmgZa^Z[h[dg^cY^k^YjVa^ckZhidghgZh^YZci^ci]ZJ@#
Investors must be individuals aged 18 or over to qualify
for the tax reliefs below. Tax reliefs will only be given to
the extent that an individual’s total investments in venture
capital trusts (VCTs) in any tax year do not exceed the
qualifying limit, which is currently £200,000.
Relief from income tax
An investor subscribing for new ordinary shares in a
VCT during the tax year 2007/2008 will be entitled to
claim income tax relief of up to 30 per cent on amounts
subscribed up to a maximum of £200,000. This relief must
be repaid should the shares be sold or otherwise disposed
of within five years. Relief is limited to the amount which
reduces the investor’s income tax liability to nil.
An investor who subscribes for or acquires up to a maximum
of £200,000 of ordinary shares in any given tax year will
cdiWZa^VWaZidJ@^cXdbZiVmdcY^k^YZcYheV^YWnVK8I!
which may include capital gains realised by the VCT.
Relief from capital gains tax
A disposal by an investor of ordinary shares (whether
acquired by subscription for new shares or subsequent
acquisition) in a VCT will give rise to neither a chargeable
\V^ccdgVcVaadlVWaZadhh[dgi]ZejgedhZhd[J@XVe^iVa
gains tax. This relief is limited to disposals of ordinary shares
acquired within the limit of £200,000 for any tax year.
On the death of an investor or a spouse who has acquired
VCT shares within marriage, no deferred capital gains tax or
income tax will become payable by either the investor, their
spouse or anyone inheriting the VCT shares.
Shares acquired other than by subscription (i.e. existing
shares)
An investor who acquires up to a maximum of £200,000 in
value of ordinary shares in a VCT in any year will be exempt
from income tax on dividends from the VCT, which may
include realised capital gains from investments made by the
VCT, and capital gains on disposal of the VCT. The permitted
maximum of £200,000 is the total of VCT shares subscribed
for and acquired in the tax year.
A loss on disposal of shares within the permitted maximum
is not an allowable loss.

Obtaining tax reliefs
Claims for income tax relief on amounts subscribed for new
ordinary shares
A venture capital trust will give each investor a certificate
which the investor uses to claim income tax relief, either
immediately by obtaining an adjustment to his tax coding
from HM Revenue & Customs or by waiting until the end of
the tax year and using his tax return to claim relief.

>ckZhidghl]dVgZcdigZh^YZci^ci]ZJ@
HjX]^ckZhidghh]djaYhZZ`i]Z^gdlcegd[Zhh^dcVaVYk^XZ
Vhidi]ZXdchZfjZcXZhd[bV`^c\Vc^ckZhibZci^cV
venture capital trust as they may be subject to tax in other
_jg^hY^Xi^dchVhlZaaVh^ci]ZJ@#
This is a summary only of the law concerning the tax
position of individual investors in VCTs. Any potential
investor in doubt as to the taxation consequences of
investment in a venture capital trust should consult a
professional adviser.

G^h`lVgc^c\h
Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future
performance. You should be aware that share values and
income from them may go down as well as up and that
ndjbVncdi\ZiWVX`i]ZVbdjcindjdg^\^cVaan^ckZhiZY#
Existing tax levels and reliefs may change and the value
d[gZa^Z[hYZeZcYhdceZghdcVaX^gXjbhiVcXZh0^ceVgi^XjaVg!
gZa^Z[hbVnWZadhidcXZVh^c\idWZVJ@gZh^YZci#6c
^ckZhibZci^cVK8IXVgg^ZhV]^\]Zgg^h`i]Vcdi]Zg[dgbhd[
^ckZhibZci#6K8I¼hh]VgZh!Vai]dj\]a^hiZY!VgZa^`ZanidWZ
illiquid. Prospective investors should regard an investment
in a VCT as a long term investment, particularly as regards
a VCT’s investment objective and policy and the three year
period (increased to five years for investments after 5 April
2006) for which shareholders must hold their shares in order
to retain their income tax reliefs. The investments made by
VCTs will normally be in companies whose securities are not
ejWa^XanigVYZYdg[gZZanbVg`ZiVWaZVcYbVn!i]ZgZ[dgZ!WZ
difficult to realise and investments in such companies are
hjWhiVci^Vaang^h`^Zgi]Vci]dhZ^caVg\ZgXdbeVc^Zh#
The tax reliefs are dependent on the VCT obtaining
unconditional approval from HM Revenue & Customs.
Reliefs will be given during a period when provisional
approval only is in force, but if provisional approval is
withdrawn all tax reliefs will be cancelled with retrospective
effect. If unconditional approval is withdrawn, any tax reliefs
are no longer available and substantial tax liabilities can be
expected to be incurred by shareholders and the VCT.
Potential investors are strongly urged to seek
independent professional advice when considering
investment in a VCT.
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Notice of Meeting

This document is important and requires your immediate attention. If you are in any doubt as to what action you
should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial advice from your stockbroker or other independent
adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. If you have sold or transferred all of your
shares in Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC, please forward this document, together with the accompanying
documents, as soon as possible to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through
whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.
Notice is hereby given that the fourth Annual General Meeting of Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC will be held on
Thursday 15 May 2008 at 10.30 a.m. at 149 St Vincent Street, Glasgow G2 5NW, to transact the following business:

Ordinary Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions:
1 To receive the Directors’ Report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007.
2 To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report
3 To approve the payment of a final dividend of 1.5p to Ordinary Shareholders and a final dividend of 1.25p to
S Ordinary Shareholders
4 To re-elect Mr M J Gilbert as a Director.
5 To re-elect Mr A Lapping as a Director.
6 To re-elect Mr S Scott as a Director.
7 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors.
8 To authorise the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

Special Business
9. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:
THAT the Directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies
Act 1985 to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (as defined in that section) up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £78,351 (representing 10% of the total Ordinary share capital in issue on 15 February
2008) and £49,724 (representing 10% of the S Ordinary share capital in issue on 15 February 2008) during the period
Zme^g^c\jcaZhhegZk^djhangZkd`ZY!kVg^ZY!dgZmiZcYZYWni]Z8dbeVcn^c\ZcZgVabZZi^c\dci]ZYViZd[i]ZcZmi
Annual General Meeting or on the expiry of fifteen months from the passing of this Resolution, whichever is the first to
dXXjg!hVkZi]Vii]Z8dbeVcnbVnbV`Zd[[ZghdgV\gZZbZcihWZ[dgZhjX]Zme^gnl]^X]ldjaYdgb^\]igZfj^gZgZaZkVci
securities to be allotted after such expiry.
10. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolution as a Special Resolution:
THAT, subject to passing of Resolution numbered 9 set out above, the Directors be and are hereby empowered, pursuant
to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”), to allot equity securities (as defined in Section 94 of the Act)
pursuant to the authority given in accordance with Section 80 of the Act by the said Resolution numbered 9 as if Section
89(1) of the Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to allotments:
(a) during the period expiring on the earlier of the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or on the
expiry of fifteen months from the passing of this Resolution, whichever is the first to occur, but so that this power shall
ZcVWaZi]Z8dbeVcnidbV`Zd[[ZghdgV\gZZbZcihl]^X]ldjaYdgb^\]igZfj^gZZfj^inhZXjg^i^ZhidWZVaadiiZYV[iZg
i]ZZme^gnd[i]^hedlZg0VcY
(b) of Ordinary shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £78,351 and S Ordinary shares up to an aggregate nomimal
amount of £49,724.
11. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolution as a Special Resolution:
THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and, subject as here and after appears, unconditionally authorised in
VXXdgYVcXZl^i]HZXi^dc&++d[i]Z8dbeVc^Zh6Xi&.-*¹i]Z6XiºidbV`ZbVg`ZiejgX]VhZhl^i]^ci]ZbZVc^c\d[
Section 163(3) of the Act) of Ordinary shares of 10p each in the capital of the Company:
provided always that:
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(a) the maximum number of shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 783,516 Ordinary representing 10% of the
8dbeVcn¼h^hhjZYDgY^cVgnh]VgZXVe^iVaVhVi&*;ZWgjVgn'%%-0VcY).,!')*gZegZhZci^c\&%d[i]Z^hhjZYH
DgY^cVgnh]VgZXVe^iVaVii]ViYViZ0
Wi]Zb^c^bjbeg^XZl]^X]bVnWZeV^Y[dgVh]VgZh]VaaWZ&%eeZgh]VgZ0
(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for share shall be not more than the lower of (i) Net
6hhZiKVajZeZgh]VgZVcY^^&%*eZgXZcid[i]ZVkZgV\Zd[i]Zb^YYaZbVg`ZifjdiVi^dch[dgh]VgZhiV`Zc[gdb!VcY
XVaXjaViZYWngZ[ZgZcXZid!i]Z9V^anD[[^X^VaA^hid[i]ZAdcYdcHidX`:mX]Vc\Z[dgi]Z[^kZWjh^cZhhYVnh^bbZY^ViZan
egZXZY^c\i]ZYViZdcl]^X]i]Zh]VgZ^hejgX]VhZY0VcY
YjcaZhhegZk^djhangZcZlZY!kVg^ZYdggZkd`ZY!i]ZVji]dg^in]ZgZWnXdc[ZggZYh]VaaZme^gZVii]ZXdcXajh^dcd[i]Z
next Annual General Meeting of the Company or, if earlier, on the expiry of fifteen months from the passing of this
Resolution, save that the Company may before such expiry enter into a contract to purchase shares which will or may
be completed wholly or partly after such expiry.
149 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5NW
17 April 2008

By order of the Board
ABERDEEN ASSET MANAGEMENT PLC
Secretaries

Notes:
&# 6hVbZbWZgndjVgZZci^iaZYidVeed^ciVegdmndgegdm^ZhidZmZgX^hZndjgg^\]ihidViiZcY!heZV`VcYkdiZVii]Z
Meeting. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is
appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares.
2. To be valid, any proxy form or other instrument of proxy and any power of attorney or other authority, if any, under
which they are signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or authority should be sent to Capita
Registrars, Proxy Department, PO Box 25, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4BR so as to
arrive not less than forty eight hours before the time fixed for the Meeting.
3. The return of a completed proxy form or other instrument of proxy will not prevent your attending the Meeting and
voting in person if you wish to do so.
4. In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertified Securities Regulations 2001, to have the right to attend and vote a
the Meeting, a member must first have his or her name entered in the Company’s register of members by not later than
forty eight hours before the time fixed for the Meeting (or, in the event that the Meeting is adjourned, forty eight hours
before the time of the adjourned Meeting). Changes to entries on that register after that time shall be disregarded in
determining the rights of any member to attend and vote at the Meeting.
5. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy
information rights (a Nominated Person) may, under an agreement between them and the member by whom they were
nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Meeting. If a Nominated
Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, they may, under any such agreement, have
a right to give instructions to the member as to the exercise of voting rights. The statement of the rights of members
in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 1 and 2 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights
described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by members of the Company.
6. Except as provided above, members who have general queries about the Meeting should write to the Company Secretary
or the Registrar at the appropriate address, as shown under Corporate Information at the end of the annual report. You
may not use any electronic address provided whether in this notice of meeting or in any related documents, including the
annual report and proxy form, to communicate with the Company for any purpose other than those expressly stated.
7. No Director has a service contract with the Company but copies of Directors’ letters of appointment will be available for
inspection for at least 15 minutes prior to the Meeting and during the Meeting.
A reply-paid form of proxy for your use is enclosed.
The biographies of the Directors are detailed on pages 18 and 19. The Directors’ Remuneration Report, referred to in
Resolution 2, is on pages 25 and 26. Details of resolutions 3 to 10 are shown in the Directors’ Report as follows:
Resolution 3
Resolutions 4 to 6
Resolutions 7 and 8
Resolutions 9 and 10
Resolution 11

page 20
page 21
page 23
page 22
page 23

results and dividends
directors
auditors
issue of new shares
purchase of shares
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Corporate Summary

Company profile
Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 is a venture capital
trust and a constituent of the FTSE All-Share Index. It was
incorporated on 26 August 2004, and has two classes of
share, Ordinary 10p and S Ordinary 10p.

Investment objective
The Company aims to achieve long term capital appreciation
and generate maintainable levels of income for shareholders.

7ZcX]bVg`
There is no meaningful venture capital trust index against
which to compare the performance of the Company.
The Manager therefore uses peer group comparisons for
reporting to the Board.

Capital structure
The Company’s issued share capital, as at 31 December
2006, consisted of 7,835,163 Ordinary shares of 10p each
and 4,972,459 S Ordinary shares of 10p each.

Net assets and Net Asset Value per share
At 31 December 2007, the Company had net assets of
£13,052,000, a net asset value per Ordinary share of 104.9p
and a net asset value per S Ordinary share of 97.2p.

Continuation date
The Articles of Association require the Directors to put a
proposal for the continuation of the Company, in its then
form, to shareholders at the Company’s AGM in 2014, and
thereafter at five yearly intervals. For such a resolution not
to be passed, shareholders holding at least 25% of the shares
then in issue must vote against the resolution.
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G^h`
Investments in smaller unquoted companies carry
hjWhiVci^Vaan]^\]Zgg^h`i]Vc^ckZhibZcih^caVg\Zg
companies or in companies listed on the Official List. Many
d[i]ZhidX`h^cl]^X]i]Z8dbeVcn^ckZhihVgZZmedhZYid
i]Zg^h`d[eda^i^XVaX]Vc\Z!ZmX]Vc\ZXdcigdah!iVmdgdi]Zg
gZ\jaVi^dch!l]^X]bVnV[[ZXii]Z^gkVajZVcYbVg`ZiVW^a^in#
The levels and bases of tax reliefs may change.
6hi]ZkdajbZd[h]VgZhigVYZYdci]ZbVg`Zi^ha^`ZanidWZ
small, the shares may trade at a significant discount to net
asset value.

Management agreement
The Company has agreements with Aberdeen Asset
Managers Limited and Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
for the provision of management and secretarial services
respectively. Please refer to page 22 for details of the
management and secretarial fees payable.

Share Classes
There are two classes of share, Ordinary and S Ordinary.
Each class of share owns a separate pool of assets, but
expenses are shared. Each class of share is entitled to
receive dividends, returns of capital or proceeds of winding
up arising from its own portfolio, and they both carry the
same rights to attend and vote at general meetings of the
Company.

Share dealing
Shares in Aberdeen Growth Opportunities VCT 2 can
WZejgX]VhZYVcYhdaY^ci]ZdeZcbVg`Zii]gdj\]V
hidX`Wgd`Zg#

Corporate Information

Directors

Registered Office

>98dgbVX`8]V^gbVc
M J Gilbert
M Graham-Wood
A Lapping
W R Nixon (as alternate to M J Gilbert)
S Scott

Sutherland House
149 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5NW
Registered in Scotland
Company Number SC272568

Manager
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
Customer Services Department 0845 300 2830
(open Monday to Friday, 9 am to 5 pm)
email: vcts@aberdeen-asset.com

Secretary
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
Sutherland House
149 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5NW

Points of Contact
The Chairman and/or the Company Secretary at:
Sutherland House
149 St Vincent Street
Glasgow G2 5NW

Registrars
Capita Registrars
Northern House
LddYhdbZEVg`
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
LZhiNdg`h]^gZ=9-%A6
Shareholder Helpline 0871 664 0300
8VaahXdhi&%eeZgb^cjiZeajhcZildg`ZmigVh#

7Vc`Zgh
?EBdg\Vc8]VhZ7Vc`

HidX`Wgd`Zgh
Teather & Greenwood Limited

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Website
lll#V\dkXi'#Xd#j`
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Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
&%FjZZc¼hIZggVXZ
Aberdeen AB10 1YG
Tel 01224 631999 Fax 01224 647010
149 St. Vincent Street, Glasgow G2 5NW
Tel 0141 306 7400 Fax 0141 306 7401
Authorised and Regulated by The Financial Services Authority
Member of the Aberdeen Asset Management Group of Companies

02 1081_0408

